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Independent auditor’s report
to the directors of Beijing Yunji Technology Co., Ltd.
(incorporated in the People’s Republic of China with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Beijing Yunji Technology Co., Ltd.
(“the Company™) and its subsidiaries (“the Group™) set out on pages 4 to 62, which comprise
the consolidated statements of financial position of the Group and the statements of financial
position of the Company as at December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 and May 31, 2025, the
consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statements of changes in equity and the consolidated statements of cash flows for each of the
years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 and the five months ended May 31, 2025 and
notes, including material accounting policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the Company’s
and the Group's financial position as at December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 and May 31, 2025
and of the Group’s consolidated financial performance and the Group’s consolidated cash flows
for each of the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 and the five months ended May
31, 2025 in accordance with the basis of preparation and presentation set out in note 1 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs™)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA™). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements™ section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code™) together with any ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit
of the consolidated financial statements in the People’s Republic of China, and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.
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Emphasis of Matter — Basis of Preparation and Presentation

We draw attention to note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, which describes the basis
of preparation and presentation. The consolidated financial statements are prepared for the
purpose of the preparation of a prospectus by the directors of the Company in connection with
the initial public offering of shares of the Company on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited. As a result, the consolidated financial statements may not be suitable
for another purpose. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Other matter

We draw attention to the fact that the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the five months ended May 31, 2024 and any of the related notes
have not been audited.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with the basis of preparation and
presentation set out in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements and for such internal
control as the directors of the Company determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
Or erTor.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company are responsible
for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and
to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. The report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but 1s not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and
maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors” use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business units within the group as a basis for
forming an opinion on the group financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors of the Company regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

F Y reG Heoerlee, Lp

8/F, KPMG Tower
Oriental Plaza

No. 1 East Chang An Ave.
Beijing

October 8, 2025



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(Expressed in Renminbi (“"RMB" )

Note

Revenue 4
Costofsales .. ...... ..

Gross profit
Research and development

CXPEIBES . . . .oy i s
Selling and marketing expenses .
Administrative expenses. . . . . .
Other net income . . ........ 5
Impairment losses recognized on

trade receivables . . .. ... ..

Loss from operations

Finance costs. . . . . R 6(a)
Changes in the carrying amount

of redemption liabilities . . . . 24
Loss before taxation . . . . . ..
Income tax .. .. .......... 7

Loss for the year/period . . . . .

Other Comprehensive income
for the year/period (after
tax)

Items that are or may be
reclassified subsequently to
profit or loss:

Exchange differences on
translation of financial
statements of an overseas
subsidiary’ ;. ;. o0 pe pe s

Total comprehensive income
for the year/period ... ...

Loss for the year/period
attributable to:

Equity shareholders of the
Company . .- o:iooinnan

Non-controlling interests . . . . .

Total comprehensive income
for the year/period
attributable to:

Equity shareholders of the
COmpany . -« == s e v s s

Non-controlling interests . . . . .

Loss per share
Basic and diluted (RMB) . . . .. i0

Five months
Year ended December 31, ended May 31,
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
REMB'000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMRB'000 RMEB'000
(unaudited)

161,280 145,153 244,775 74,304 88,329
(122.009) (103.996) (138.357) (42.642) (53.440)

39271 39,157 106,418 31.662 34,889
{67.761) (69.443) (57.386) (23.377) (24.948)
(103.563) (56.790) (58.188) (21.785) (30912)
(106.,510) (56.553) (56,121) (20.339) (44.372)

15,809 18.818 22,007 6.465 5.286
(10,075) (7.647) (9,657) (1.760) (3.862)
(232.831) (132,458) (52,927) (29.134) (63,919)
(1,081) (557) (167) (69) (23)
(131,508) (131,508) (131.869) (54.765) (34.405)
(365.420)  (264.523) (184.963) (83.968) (118.347)
(365.420) (264.523) (184.963) (83.968) (118.347)
= - g - 91)
(365.420) (264.523) (184.963)  (83.968) (118.438)
(365.420) (264.523) (184.963) (83.968) (118.118)
- - - - (229)
(365.420) (264,523) (184.963) (83,968) (118,347)
(365.420)  (264.523) (184.963) (83.968) (118.209)
= = = n (229)
(365.420) (264.523) (184.963) (83.968) (118.438)
(5.91) (4.28) (2.99) (1.36) (1.91)

The accompanying notes form part of the consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(Expressed in RMB)

Non-current assets

Property and equipment. . . .. ..
Intangible assets . ... ........
Time deposits with banks ... ..

Current assets

Inventories .. ..............
Trade receivables ...........
Prepayments, deposits and other

receivables. . .............
Time deposits with banks ... ..
Financial assets measured at fair

value through profit or loss

(FVPLY). o cvvvwnsnonnnns
Rest¥icted cash : oo v unvvnvins
Cash and cash equivalents. . . . .

Current liabilities

Bank 10208/ : s s v s v vovvvnwwe
Trade and bills payables ... ...
Contract liabilities. . ... ......
Other payables and accruals . . .
Lease liabilities. ... .........
Redemption liabilities . . ... ...

Net current liabilities .. ... ..

Total assets less current

liabilities. . ... ...........

Non-current liabilities:

Contract liabilities. .. ... ... ..
Lease liabilities. . ... ........
Deferred income . ...........

NET LIABILITIES
CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Share capital .. .............
RESEIVES - s vnssvusuvpoangse

Total deficits attributable to
equity shareholders of the

Company ...............

Non-controlling interests. .. ..
TOTAL DEFICITS ....... ..

Note

iz
18(b)

14

16
18(b)

17
18(a)
18(a)

22
19
21
20
23
24

21
25

27
27

As at December 31, I\fﬁ; "3'1’
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
26,500 16.296 16,936 16,051
4,402 3,266 2,130 1,656
- 81,585 63,230 101,453
30,902 101,147 82,296 119,160

68,707 58,255

42,403 16,524 61,159 53,374
26,900 22,670 18,652 26,123
54,123 20,000 30,769 84,947
307,276 113,629 141,928 25,021
5385 10,833 21,876 10,433
111,656 174,133 105,481 15,135
616,460 416,044 428,631 321,378
15,008 5,000 - -
21,116 31,373 50,752 35,136
33,738 40,351 44,718 35,683
34,662 30,377 44,148 41,070
8,778 3,775 352 593
1,606,943 1,738,451 1,870,320 1,924,725
1,720,245 1,849,327 2,010,290 2,037,207

3,948 5,042 4,896 5,492
8,200 218 = 937
19,060 18,660 14,463 13,756
31,208 23,920 19,359 20,185

(1,104,091) (1,356,056) (1,518,722) (1,616,854)

61,818 61,818 61,818 61,818
(1,165,909) (1.417,874) (1,580,540) (1,678,149)

(1,104,091) (1,356,056) (1,518,722) (1,616,331)

- - - (523)
(1,104,091) (1,356,056) (1,518,722) (1,616,854)

Approved and authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on October 8, 2025,

7T %T
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Director

Zhi Tao
Director

The accompanying notes form part of the consolidated financial statements.
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

(Expressed in RMB)

Non-current assets

Property and equipment. . ... ...
Intangible assets . . ...........
Interest in subsidiaries ........
Time deposits with banks . ... ..

Current assets

Inventories .. ...............

Trade receivables ............

Prepayments, deposits and other
TECEIVABIES: « & 5 & ¢ o s s

Time deposits with banks . ... ..

Financial assets measured at

Current liabilities

Bank: 16868 . -3 5 3 5 s ovewvesns
Trade and bills payables .. ... ..
Contract liabilities. . ..........
Other payables and accruals . . . .
Lease liabilities. . ............
Redemption liabilities . . . ... ...

Net current liabilities . ... . ...

Total assets less current
liabilities. . . .. ........ .. ..

Non-current liabilities:

Contract liabilities. . ... .......
Lease liabilities. . .. ..........
Deferred income ... ..........

NET LIABILITIES ....... ...

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital . ...............
RESEIVES o v vuv s o v s oo gmmmsan

Note

13
18(b)

21
23
25

27
27

As at December 31, As at
May 31,
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB™000 RMB000 RMB’ 000 RMB’000
19,184 11,817 13,796 12,407
4,402 3,266 2,130 1,656
331,115 356,600 403,626 418,240
- 81,585 63,230 101,453
354,701 453,268 482,782 533,756
66.562 54,761 44,561 42,217
41,767 16,356 58,527 50,963
21,668 17,053 10,460 18,139
54,123 20,000 30,769 84,947
272,189 113,629 141,928 25,021
5,395 10,832 21,876 10,433
109,146 168,843 100,789 73,208

408,910 304,928

15,008 5,000 - -
19.408 30,006 50,316 34,790
32,154 39,133 44,368 35,443
26,721 22,131 35,251 35,066
7,147 2,972 - -
1,606,943 1,738,451 1,870,320 1,924,725
1,707,381 1,837,693 2,000,255 2,030,024

(781,830) (982,951) (1,108,563) (1,191,340)
3,948 5,042 4,896 5,492
6,736 - - -
1,560 1,160 1,963 1,963

12,244 6,202 6,859 7,455

(794,074) (989,153) (1,115,422) (1,198,795)

61,818 61,818 61,818 61,818

(855,892) (1,050,971) (1,177,240) (1,260,613)
(794,074)  (989,153) (1,115,422) (1,198,795)

Approved and authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on October 8, 2025.

Director

;é;zq’ o

Li Quan
Director

The accompanying notes form part of the consolidated financial statements.



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
(Expressed in RMB)

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

Share-based
Share Capital payments Accumulated Non-controlling
capital reserve rEserve losses Subtotal interests Total
RMBO0O  RMB'000 RMB 000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000
Not
Note 27(b) 2?(:1?[ ) Nore 27(¢)fii)
Balance af January 1, 2022, 61818 (262,177) - (538312) (738,671 - (738.671)
Changes in equity for 2022:
Loss and total comprehensive

income for the year . . . . - - - (365.420)  (363,420) - (365.420)
Balance at December 31,

o 61.818 (262,177 - (903,732) (1,104,091) - (1,104,091
Balance at January 1, 2023, 61818 (262177) = (903,732) (1,104,091) = (1,104.091)
Changes in equity for 2023:

Loss and total comprehensive

income for the year . . . . ~ - - (264.523) (264.523) - (264,52%)
Equity settled share-hased

transactions .. .. .. .. - - 12,558 - 12558 - 12.558
Balance at December 31,

2023 s o o o o i 61818 (262.177) 12,558 (1.168,235) (1.356,056) - (1,356,056)
Balance at January 1, 2024 . 61818  (262,177) 12,558 (1,168,255) (1.356.056) - (1,356.056)
Changes in equity for 2024:

Loss and total comprehensive

ncome for the year . , . - - = (184.963)  (184,963) - (184.963)
Equity settled share-based

transactions . . . . . . .. - - 22,297 - 22,207 - 2,201
Balance at December 31,

B 72 50 30 50 5a 61818 (262.177) 34.853 (1.353218) (1,518,722) - (1,318,722)

The accompanying notes form part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

Share Capital Share-hased  Exchange  Accumalated Non-controlling
capital TEServe  payments TeSEEve  reserve losses Subtotal interests Total
RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'(00 RMB 000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB 000 RMB000
Note Note

Nore 20ty 27(e)(i) Note 27(¢)ii) e )iii)

Balance at January 1, 2025. 61818 (262.177) 185 = (L353218) (151871)) - (1318720
Changes in equity for the

five months ended

May 31, 2025;
Loss for the period . . . . . - - - - (18.118)  (LI8.LIE) 20y (18MT)
Other comprehensive income. - - - (9 = (91 - (91)
Total comprehensive income . - - = {91 (118.118)  (L18.20%) (229)  (11843§)
Disposal of partial interests T T N o

ina subsidiary without

losing control . . . . .. - 294 B - - 94 1204) e
Equity seuled share-based

fransactions . . . .. .. - - 20306 = N 20,306 - 20,306
Balance at May 31,2025 . . 6IRIS  (261.883) 35.161 @ (1471.336) (1.616331) (33) (L6I6854)

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

Share Capital Share-based Accumulated Non-tontralling
capital reserve payments reserve lngses Subtotal interests Total
RMB'000  RME'000 RMB'000 RMB'OOO  RMB'000 RMEO00 RMB'000
Note 27th). Nate 27icMi) Note 2icfii)
{unzodited)
Balance at January 1, 2024 . . 61818 (262,177) 1255 (1168.255)  (1.356.036) = (L336056)
(Changes in equity for the
five months ended May 31,
2024
Loss and total comprehensive
income for the peviod. . . . . - - - (§3.968) (83.968) - (83.968)
Equity settled share-hased
IEansgetions . . . ... - = 9,072 - 9.0712 = 907
Balance at May 31, 204. . . . 61.818 (262,177) 2630 (1282203 (1430952 - (143095

H

The accompanying notes form part of the consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Expressed in RMB)

Operating activities
Cash used in operations . . . ... . ..

511 o L1 R
Net cash used in operating activities .

Investing activities
Payments for the purchase of property
and equipment . ... ... .......
Proceeds from disposal of property and
CTOUTT 0] ) | S ol i s
Advances to related parties . . ., . . ..
Repayment of advances to related
parties . .. ... .............
Payments for the purchase of intangible
HERRIR: orx ofx ofp Ofr oy BT N NE N b
Payments for purchase of financial
assEtsat FVPL . oo o on o o oo
Proceeds from disposals of financial
assetsat FVPL . . ... .........
Purchase of time deposits with banks. .
Maturity of time deposits with banks . .
Net cash generated from/(used in)
investing activities . .. ... ... ..
Financing activities
Capital element of lease payments. . . .
Interest element of lease payments . . .
Proceeds from new bank loans. . . . . .
Repayment of bank loans . . .. ... ..
Issuance costs of the proposed issuance
of pewshares . ... ..., ...
Repayment of advance received from a
related party. . . ....... ...,
Intexest paid. - - o e n e ew e e
Net cash generated from/(used in)
financing activities . . . ... ... ..

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and

cash equivalents. . ... ... ... .
Cash and cash equivalents at the

beginning of the year/period . . . . .
Effects of exchange rate changes on

the balance of cash held in foreign
currencies. . .. ...... .. ...

Cash and cash equivalents at the end
of the year/period. . . . ... ... ..

Year ended December 31,

Five months
ended May 31,

Note 2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'D00 RMB'000 RMB ' 00M)
{unaudited)

SO (03 63T @14 (19559 (52980
(170,392)  (76,370)  (41,482) (19,556)  (52,987)
(6,761)  (5376)  (7.606) (1,015) (588)

27 T12 630 376 2
30(c) = (386) (1.000) = (1,000)
30e) - 193 1.193 32 1,000
(2.830) - - - —
(567.500) (702.000) (462.000) (232.000)  (62.000)

862,767 904 866  440.304 89,274 179,582
(54,000) (100,000) (10,000) = (90,774)

= 55,215 20410 — =

BB IH24 (849 (483) 2600
18(d) (10.168) (3,806) (2.827) (1,391) (584)
18(d) (1.038) (245) (54) (26) (23)
18(d) 15.000 5,000 = = -
18(d) - (15,000 (3,000) = =
. - (229) - (2959)

30c) - - (898) - —
18(d) (35) (320) (113) (18) -
3139 (43nn) G2 (1435 (3.566)
65.070 62,483 (68.632) (164,324)  (30.,331)

46,582 111,656 174,133 174.133 105,481
4 (6) - - (15)

111,656 174,133 105,481 0,809 75,135

The accompanying notes form part of the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Expressed in RMB)

1 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND PRESENTATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Beijing Yunji Technology Co.. Lid. (L EifHbiitir M4 (the “Company”) was incorporated in
Beijing, the People's Republic of China (the “PRC") on January 29, 2014 as a limited liability company under the
Companies Law of the PRC, On November 29, 2021, the board of directors of the Company resolved to convert the
Company from a limited liability company into a joint stock limited liability company. The conversion was completed
on December 6, 2021.

The Company and its subsidiaries (together, “the Group™) are principally engaged in sales of robots and
functional kits and provision of artificial intelligence (the “Al")-driven robotic fundamental services and Al agent
applications.

The financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for which there are statutory requirements were
prepared in accordance with the relevant accounting rules and regulations applicable to entities in the countries in
which they were incorporated or established. The Company's statutory financial statements for the years ended
December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 were audited by Beijing Dongshen Certified Public Accountants (Special General
Partnership) GO & HI SR ITSF R @ £ 95)).

Ag at the date of this report. the Company has direct interests in the following principal subsidiaries:

Proportion of
Place of incorporation ownership
and business and date of  Partieulars of issned  imterest held by
Company name Imcorporation and paid-up capital the Company Principal activities
Henan Yunji Intelligent PRC/October 29, RMB 10.000.000 100% Sales of robots and
Technology Co., Ltd. 2021 intelligent solutions
(] i S R T A PR
2a)) (Notes (i) and
(771 T
Shanghai Renyun PRC/December 27, RMB2,000,000 100% Sales of robots and
Technology Co.. Ltd. 2016 intelligent solutions
(Ll NEFHE TR
7)) (Notes (i) and (ii)) .
Chengdu Yunkuo PRC/February 8, RMB4,000,000 100% Ancillary service on
Technology Co., Ltd. 2021 installation of
(RFPEWPHEAMAT) robots

(Notes (i) and (if)). . . .

Notes:
(i) These entities were registered as limited lability companies under the laws and regulations in the PRC.
The official names of these entities are in Chinese. The English translation is included for identification

only.

(ii)  No auodited statutory financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 of
these entities have been prepared.
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All companies now comprising the Group have adopted December 31 as their financial year end date.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in  accordance with all applicable
IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB"). As the
Group's first consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards,
IFRS 1 "First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards" has been applied save
for certain presentation and disclosure provisiens therein. The date of transition to IFRS Accounting
Standards was January 1. 2022, Further details of the material accounting policy information are set out in
Note 2.

The 1ASB has issued a number of new and revised IFRS Accounting Standards. For the purpose of
preparing the consolidated financial statements. the Group has consistently applied all applicable new and
revised IFRS Accounting Standards for each of the years ended December 31. 2022, 2023 and 2024 and
the five months ended May 31, 2025 (the "Track Record Period"). The Group has not applied any new
and revised accounting standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective for the accounting period
beginning on January 1. 2025, the detail of which are set out in Note 33.

The consolidated financial statements also complies with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange™).

As at May 31, 2025, the Group had net current liabilities and net liabilities of RMB1,715,829,000 and
RMB1.616.854.000, respectively. primarily due to the significant amount of the redemption liabilities of
RMB1,924.725,000 arising from the financing with redemption rights from the investors before its initial public
offering. The directors of the Company are of the opinion that no payment is expected for the settlement of the
redemption liabilities as the related redemption rights would be terminated and the redemption liabilities would be
converted into equity upon the qualified initial public offering of the Company’s H shares on the Stock Exchange.
Taken the above into consideration, and together with cashflow forecast for the twelve months from the date of this
report prepared by management of the Group, the directors of the Company are of the opinion that the Group has
sufficient financial resources to continue as a going concern for the next twelve months. Accordingly, the
directors of the Company consider it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements on a going
concern basis.

The Company and the Group has its functional currency in RMB and the consolidated financial statements
is presented in RMB.

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in the
consolidated financial statements.

The stub period corresponding financial information of the Group comprises the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated cash flow statement for the five months ended May 31, 2024 and other explanatory information (the
"Stub Period Corresponding Financial Information”). The Stub Period Corresponding Financial Information has
been prepared in accordance with the same basis of preparation and presentation adopted in respect of the
consolidated financial statements.

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(a) Basis of measurement

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements is the historical
cost basis, except that the following assets and liabilities are stated at their fair value as explained in the
accounting policies set out below:

- Financial assets at FVPL (see Note 2(d)):

(by Use of estimates and judgments

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS Accounting Standards requires management
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis
of making the judgments abour carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are réviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions (o accounting
estimartes are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period. or in
the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgments made by management in the application of IFRS Accounting Standards that have significant effect
on the financial stitements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in Note 3,

(€) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls dn entity when it is exposed to. or has
rights 1o, varigble returns from its invelvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements
from the date on which control commences until the date on which control ceases.
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Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealized income and expenses (except for foreign currency
transaction gains or losses) arising from intra-group transactions. are eliminated. Unrealized losses resulting from
intra-group transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealized gains, but only to the extent that there is no
evidence of impairment.

For each business combination, the Group can elect to measure any non-controlling interests (“NCI") either
at fair value or at the NCI's proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets. NCL are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position within equity, separately from equity attributable to the equity
shareholders of the Company. NCI in the results of the Group are presented on the face of the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an allocation of the total profit or loss and total comprehensive
income for the year or period between NCI and the equity shareholders of the Company.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equily transactions.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment in 4 subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment
losses (see Note 2(h)).

(d) Other investments in securities
The Group's policies for investments in securities, other than investments in subsidiaries, are set out below.

Investments in securities are recognized/derecognized on the date the Group commits to purchase/scll the
investment, The investments are initially stated at fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs, except for
those investments measured at FVPL for which transaction costs are recognized directly in profit or loss. For an
explanation of how the Group deteérmines fair value of financial instruments, see Note 28(¢). These investments are
subsequently accounted for as follows, depending on their classification,

Non-equity investments
Non-equity investments are classified into one of the following measurement categories:

- amortized cost. if the investment is held for the collection of contractual cash flows which
represent solely payments of principal and interest. Expected credit losses, interest income
calculated using the effective interest method (see Note 2(s)(ii)(a)), foreign exchange gains and
losses are recognized in profit or loss. Any pain or loss on derecognition is recognized in profit
or loss.

- FVOCI recycling, if the contractual cash flows of the investment comprise solely payments of
principal and interest and the investment is held within a business model whose objective is
achieved by both the collection of contractual cash flows and sale: Expected credit losses, interest
income (calculated using the effective interest method) and foreign exchange gains and losses are
recognized in profit or loss and computed in the same manner as if the financial asset was
measured at amortized cost. The difference between the fair value and the amortized cost is
recognized in other comprehensive income (the “OCI”). When the investment is derecognized,
the amount accumulated in OCL is recycled from equity to profit or loss.

- FVPL if the investment does not meet the criteria for being measured at amortized cost or FVOCI
(recycling). Changes in the fair value of the investment (including interest) are recognized in
profit or loss.

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVPL, unless the investment is not held for trading
purposes and on initial recognition the Group makes an irrevocable election to designate the investment at
FVOCI (non-recycling) such that subsequent changes in fair value are recognized in OCI. Such elections are
mude on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but may only be made if the investment meets the definition of
equity from the issuer’s perspective. If such election is made for a particular investment, at the time of
disposal, the amount accumulated in the fair value reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to retained earnings
and not recycled through profit or loss. Dividends from an investment in equity securities. irrespective of
whether classified as at FVPL or FVOCI. are recognized in profit or loss as other income.
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(e)  Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment
losses (see Note 2(h)).

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property and equipment is recognized in profit or loss.
Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of itéms of property and equipment less their estimated residual
values, if any. using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, and is generally recognized in profit

or loss.

The estimated useful lives for the Track Record Period are as follows:

— Office equipment. furniture and fixtures . . ... ... .... .. 3-5 years
— Machinery and production equipment . . .. ... .00 4-5 years
— Leaschold improvement . . . . .. ..o v v i v i o e shorter of the lease term and 5 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed annually and adjusted if appropriate.
(f Intangible assets

Expenditure on research activities is recognized in profit or loss as incurred. Development expenditure is
capitalized only if the expenditure can be measured reliably, the product or process is technically and commercially
feasible. future economic benefits are probable and the Group intends to and has sufficient resources to complete
development and to use or sell the resulting asset, Otherwise, it is recognized in profit or loss as incurred. Capitalized
development expenditure is subsequently measured at cost less accumulated amortization and any accumulated
impairment losses.

Amortization is caleulated to write off the cost of intangible assets less their estimated residual values using
the straight-line method over their estimated uvseful lives, if any, and is generally recognized in profit or loss.

The estimated useful lives for the Track Record Period are as follows:

— BOfware I BOPVEITHIN = o o ez e s s as ws ws s da v Eov sow Eow sov sow § 5 years

Amortization methods, vseful lives and residual values are reviewed annually and adjusted if appropriate.
(g) Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. This is the case if
the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has both the right to direct the use of the identified asset and
to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from that use.

(i)  As a lessee

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease linbility, except for
short-term leases that have a lease term of |2 months or less and leases of low-value assets. When the Group enters
into a lease in respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides whether to capitalize the lease on a lease-by-lease basis,
The lease payments associated with those leases which are not capitalized are recognized as an expense on a
systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalized, the lease liability is initially recognized at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term. discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or. if that rate cannot
be readily determined, using g relevant incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition, the lease liability is
measured at amortized cost and interest expense is calculated using the effective interest method. Variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement of the lease liability and hence
are charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in which they are incurred.
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The right-of-use assct recognized when a lease is capitalized is initially measured at cost, which comprises the
initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus
any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore
the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset is
subsequently stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see Note 2(e) and 2(h)).

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an
index or rate, if there is a change in the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value
guarantee, or il the Group changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this way. a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been
reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a lease modification, which means a change in the scope
of a lease or the consideration for a lease that is not originally provided for in the lease contract, if such modification
is not accounted for as a separate lease. In this case, the lease liability is remeasured based on the revised lease
payments and lease term using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

In the consolidated statement of financial position, the current portion of long-term lease liabilities is
determined as the present value of contractual payments that are due to be settled within twelve months after the
reporting period.

(ii}) As a lessor

The Group determines at lease inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an operating lease. A lease

is classified as a finance lease if it trunsfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to the ownership of an

underlying assets to the lessee. Otherwise, the lease is c¢lassified as an operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract
to each component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.

The rental income from operating leases is recognized in accordance with Note 2(s).
(h)  Credit losses and impairment of assets
(i)  Credit losses from financial instruments

The Group recognizes a loss allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) on financial assets measured at
amortized cost (including cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, other receivables, time deposits with banks
and restricted cash).

Financial assets measured at fair value are not subject to the ECL assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit logses are measured as the present
value of all expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the Group in accordance

with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using effective interest rate determined at initial recognition
or an approximation thercol where the effect of discounting is material.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which
the Group is exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are expected to result from possible default events within
the 12 months after the reporting date: and
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- lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected to result from all possible default events over
the expected lives of the items to which the ECL model applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

For all other financial instruments. the Group recognizes a loss allowance equal to 12-month ECLs
unless there has been a significant increase in credit risk of the financial instrument since initial recognition,
in which case the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

Significant increases in credit risk

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial instrument (including a loan commitment) has
increased significantly since initial recognition and when measuring ECLs. the Group considers reasonable and
supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both
quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group's historical experience and informed

credit assessment, that includes forward-looking information.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:

- failure to make payments of principal or interest on their contractually due dates:

- an -actual or expected significant deterioration in a financial instrument’s external or internal
credit rating (if available);

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor: and

- existing or forecast changes in the technological, market, economic or legal environment that
have a significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to meet its obligation to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments, the assessment of a significant increase in credit
risk is performed on either an individual basis or a collective basis. When the assessment is performed on a
collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics, such as past
due status and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk
since initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is recognized as an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss. The Group recognizes an impairment gain or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account.

At each reporting date. the Group assesses whether a financial asset is credit-impaired. A finaneial asset
is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows
of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable events:

- significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

= a breach of contract, such as a default;

- it becoming probable that the borrower will enter into bankruptey or other financial
reorganization:

- significant changes in the technological, market, economic or legal environment that have an
adverse effect on the debtor; or

- the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties of the issuer.
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Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent that
there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the Group determines that the debtor
does not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts
subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously written off are recognized as a reversal of
impairment in profit or loss in the period in which the recovery occurs.

(ii)  Impairment of other non-current assets

At cach reporting date. the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets (other than
inventories) to determine whether there is any indication of impairment.

If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash
inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assels or cash-generating units
(*CGU™).

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs of
disposal. Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific fo the asset
or CGU.

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount,

Impairment losses are recognized in prolit or loss. They are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill allocated to the CGU, and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the CGU on 4 pro
rata basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. For other assets, an impairment loss is reversed only
to the extent that the resulting carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognized.

(i) Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value as follows:

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost formula and comprises all costs of purchase. costs of
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition.

Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs
of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is recognized as an expense in the period
in which the related revenue is recognized. The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realizable value and
all losses of inventories are recognized as an expense in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any
reversal of any write-down of inventories is recognized as a reduction in the amount of inventories recognized as an
expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

A right to recover returned goods is recognized for the right o recover products from customers sold with a
right of return. It is measured in accordance with the policy set out in Note 2(s)(i).

(i Contract liabilities
A contract liability is recognized when the customer pays non-refundable consideration before the Group
recognizes the related revenue (see Note 2(s)(i)). A contract liability would also be recognized if the Group has an

unconditional right to receive non-refundable consideration before the Group recognizes the related revenue. In such
cases, a corresponding receivable would also be recognized (see Note 2(k) ).
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(k) Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognized when the Group has an unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to
receive consideration is unconditional if only the passage of time is required before payment of that consideration
is due.

Trade receivables that do nol contain a significant financing component are initially measured at their
transaction price. Trade receivables that contain a significant financing component and other receivables are initially
measured at fair value plus transaction costs. All receivables are subsequently stated at amortized cost, using the
effective interest method and including an allowance for credit losses (see Note 2(h)(i)).

() Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions and other short-term. highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group's cash management
are also included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for ECL (see Note 2(h)(i}).

(m) Trade and other payables (other than refund liabilities)

Trade and other payables are inmtially recognized at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition, trade and
other payables are stated at amortized cost unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at invoice amounts,

(n)  Interest-bearing borrowings
Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at fair value less trunsaction costs.

Subsequently, these borrowings are stated at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Interest
expense is recognized in accordance with Note 2(t).

(o) Employee benefits
(i) Short-term employee benefits and contributions to defined contribution retirement plans

Short-term emplovee benefits are expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is recognized for the
amount expected to be paid if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result
of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

Obligations for contributions 1o defined contribution retirement plans are expensed as the related service is
provided.

(ii)  Share-based payments

The difference between the subscription price and the fair value of the awarded shares granted to employees
is recognized as an emplovee cost with a corresponding increase in share-based payments reserve within equity. The
fair value of the share awards is the difference between the subscription price paid by the employees and the fair value
of the ordinary shares at grant date. Where the employees have 1o meet vesting conditions before becoming
unconditionally entitled to the share awards, the total difference between the subscription price and the fair value of
the ordinary shares is spread over the vesting period, taking into account the probability that the share awards will
be vested.

(iii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are expensed at the earlier of when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits and when the Group recognizes costs for a restructuring.

(p) Redemption liabilities

A contract that contains an obligation to purchase the Group's equity instruments for cash or another financial
asset gives rise to a financial liability for the redemption amount, even if the Group's obligations to purchase is
conditional on the counterparty exercising a right to redeem. The redemption liability is initially measured at the
carrying amount of the redemption amount and subsequently measured at amortized cost with interest expense being
included in change in the carrying amounis of redemption liabilities.
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The redemption liabilities were classified as current liabilities as some of the redemption events could occur
anytime. The carrying amount of the redemption liability will be reclassified to equity upon a termination of the
counterparty’s redemption right.

(g) Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current tax and deferred tax. It is recognized in profit or loss except to the extent
that it relates to a business combination. or items recognized directly in equity or in OCL

Current tax comprises the estimated tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year and
any adjustments to the tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. The amount of current tax payable or
receivable is the best estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid or received that reflects any uncertainty related
o income taxes. It is measured using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Current tax also
includes any tax arising from dividends, Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met.

Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognized
for:

- temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a
business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise
to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences: and

B temporary differences related to investment in subsidiaries to the extent that the Group is able to control
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that they will not reverse in
the Toreseeable future;

The Group recognized deferred tax assets und deferred tax liabilities separately inrelation to its lease labilities
and right-of-use assets.

Deferred tax assets are recognized for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they ¢an be used.
Future taxable profits are determined based on the reversal of relevant taxable temporary differences. If the amount
of taxable temporary differences 1§ insufficient to recognize a deferred tax asset in [ull, then future taxable profits,
adjusted for reversals of existing temporary differences. are considered. based on the business plans for individual
subsidiaries in the Group. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced 1o the extent that
it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized; such reductions are reversed when the probability
of future taxable profits improves.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met.
(r) Provisions

Generally provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessment of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.

A provision for warranties is recognized when the underlying products or services are sold, based on historical
warranty data and a weighting of possible outcomes against their associated probabilities.

A provision for onerous contracts is measured at the present value of the lower of the expected cost of
terminating the contract and the expected net cost of continuing with the contract, which is determined based on the
incremental costs of fulfilling the obligation under that contract and an allocation of other costs directly related to
fulfilling that contract. Before a provision is established, the Group recognizes any impairment loss on the assets
associated with that contract (see Note 2(h)(1i)).

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote. Possible obligations. whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence
of one or more future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote.
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Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another
party. a separate asset is recognized for any expected reimbursement that would be virtually certain. The amount
recognized for the reimbursement is limited to the carrying amount of the provision.

(s) Revenue and ether income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises from the sale of goods, the provision of services
and the use by others of the Group’s assets under leases in the ordinary course of the Group’s business.

Further details of the Group's revenue and other income recognition policies are as follows:
(i)  Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is recognized when control over a product or service is transferred to the customer at the amount of
promised consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf
of third parties such as value added tax or other sales taxes.

Contracts with customers may include multiple performance obligations. For such arrangements, the Group
allocates the transaction price to each performance obligation based on its relative standalone selling price. The
Group generally determines standalone selling prices based on the observable prices charged to customers when the
Group sells that good or service separately. If the standalone selling price is not directly observable. it is estimated
using expected cost plus o margin or adjusted market assessment approach, depending on the availability of
information. Assumptions and estimations have been made in estimating the standalone selling price, and changes in
those assumptions and estimates may impact the revenue recognition.

The Group generates revenue from (i) the sales of robots and functional kits, primarily including robots,
related hardware and other kits: (ii) Al digitalization system. which includes (a) the provision of Al-driven robotic
fundamental services, primarily including subscription of our robot operating system and comprehensive Al-poweréd
support for our robots and functional kits: and (b) the provision of Al agent applications. primarily including
subscription serviee for our standard hospitality digital operating system (“HDOS"), development service for
customized HDOS, and YJ-Platform. which includes sales of merchandise through our smart vending machines.

(a)  Salex of robots, functional kits and merchandises

Revenue is recognized when the customer takes possession of and accepts the products. 1f the products
are a partial fulfilment of a contract covering other goods, then the amount of revenue recognized is an
appropiiate proportion of the total transaction price under the contract. allocated between all the products
promised under the contract on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.

The Group offers certain customers for the sale of products with rights of return. Such rights of return
give rise to variable consideration.

The Group uses an expected value approach to estimate variable consideration based on the Group's
current and future performance expectations and all information that is reasonably available. This estimated
amount is included in the transaction price to the extent it is highly probable that a significant reversal of
cumulative revenue recognized will not occur when the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration
is resolved. At the time of sale of products. the Group recognizes revenue after taking into account adjustment
to transaction price arising from returns as mentioned above. A retund liability is recognized for the expected
returns and is included in other payables. A right to recover returned products (included in inventories) and
corresponding adjustment to cost of sales are also recognized for the right to recover products from customers.
This right to recover returned goods is measured at the former carrying amount of the inventory less any
expected costs to recover goods (including potential decreases in the value of the returned goods).

(b)  Provision of Al digitalization system
Revenue from Al digitalization system (excluding sales of merchandise through our smart vending
muchines, see Note (s5)(1)(a)) is recognized on a straight-line basis over the performance period for which the

services are rendered, or recognized when the Group fulfilled the specific performance obligation under the
contract terms with customers.
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(1)

Revenue from other sources and other income
(a)  Interest income

Interest income is recognized as it accrues under the effective interest method using the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset. For financial assets measured at amortized cost or FVOCT (recycling) that are
not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset. For
credit-impaired financial assets, the effective interest rate is applied to the amortized cost (i.e. pross carrying
amount net of loss allowance) of the asset (see Note 2(h)(i)).

(b)  Government grants

Government grants are recognized in the statement of financial position initially when there is
reasonable assurance that they will be received and that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them. Grants that compensate the Group for expenses incurred dre recognized as income in profit or less
on a systematic basis in the same periods in which the expenses are incurred. Grants that compensate the Group
for the cost of an asset are recognized s deferred income and subsequently recognized in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the useful life of the assel

{e)  Rental income from operating leases

Rental income from operating leases is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term
of the lease. Lease incentives granted are recognized as an integral part of the total rental income, over the term
of the lease.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset which

necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalized as part of the
cost of that assef. Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

()

Related parties
(a) A person. or a ¢lose member of that person’s family, is related to the Group if that person:
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(ii)  has significant influence over the Group; or
(ii1)  is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or the Group's parent.
(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(ii)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of
a member of a group of which the other entity is a member),

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.
(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or joinily controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).
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(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which 1t is a part. provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the Group's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

(v) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive management for the purposes
of allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group's various lines of business and geographical
locations,

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of products and services, the
nature of production processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the produets or provide
the services. and the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments which are not individually material
muy be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

3 ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT AND ESTIMATES

Note 28 contains information about the assumptions and their risk factors relating to fair value of financial
instruments. Other significant sources of estimation uncertainty and accounting judgments are as follows:

(i) Share-based payments arrangement and its fair value measurement

The Group measures the cost of share-based payments with employees by reference to the fair value of the
equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. Estimating fair value requires determining the most
appropriate valuation model for a grant of equity instruments, which is dependent on the terms and conditions of the
grant. The determination of the fair value of the share-based payments is affected by the significant assumptions such
as the underlying equity value. the expected volatility of share price and risk free interest rate. The Group also has
to estimate the vesting periods of the share awards which is variable and subject to an estimate of when an initial
public offering (*IPO") of the Company will occur. Details of share-based payments are contained in Note 26,

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
{a) Revenue

The principal activities of the Group are (i) the sales of robots and functional Kits. primarily including robots,
related hardware and other kits; (ii) Al digitalization system, which include (a) the provision of Al-driven robotic
fundamental services. primarily including subscription of our robot operating system and comprehensive Al-powered
support for our robots and functional kits: and (b) the provision of AL agent applications, primarily including
subscription service for our standard HDOS, development service for customized HDOS, and YJ-Platform, which
includes sales of merchandise through our smart vending machines.
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(i)  Disaggregation of revenue

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by major products or service lines and timing of
revenue recognition are as follows:

Year ended December 31, Five months ended May 231,
2022 2623 2024 2024 2025
RMEB GO0 RMEEOU0 RMB 000 RMA 000 RME 000
(tmaudited)
Revenue from contraets with
customers within the scope of
IFRS 15
Robots and functional kits . . 134,750 119,230 186.605 56,181 64313
Al digitalization system . . . . 26,384 25,470 55.881 17,723 22.647
Al-driven robotic
fundamental services . . . . 20,158 22,298 44364 16,516 19,096
Al agent applications . . . . . 6.226 3172 11,517 1.207 3,551
161,134 144,700 242 486 73,904 86,960
Revenue from other sources
Rental income from robots and
functional kits . . ....... 146 453 2,280 400 1,369
Folhl- . o ioe o ox ox ox ox o 161,280 145,153 244,775 74,304 88,320
Disaggregated revenue from
contracts with customers
within the scope of IFRS 15
by timing of revenue
recognition
Point intime. . .. ........ 147,523 125.670 201,514 58.573 69,028
OVEHNE. . o o o o o o 13.611 19,030 40,972 15,331 17,932
161,134 144,700 247 486 73,904 86,960
Disaggregated by geographical
location of customers
Chinese Mainland. . ., .. . . . 157,964 143,430 234,832 72.245 87.699
Other countries or regions, . . . 3,316 1,723 9,923 2,059 630
161.280 145,153 244775 74304 88.329

During the Track Record Period. there were no customers which individually contributed more than 10% of
total revenue of the Group. Details of concentrations of credit risk of the Group are set out in Note 28(a).

(ii)  Revenue expected to be recognized in the future arising from contracts with customers in existence at the
reporting date

As of December 31, 2022, 2023, 2024 and May 31. 2025. the aggregated amount of the transaction price
allocated to the remaining performance obligations under the Group's existing contracts was RMB5.2 million,
RMB6.0 million, RMBS8.1 million and RMBY9.5 million. This amount mainly represents revenue expected to be
recognized in the future from maintenance service contracts and subscription service contracts for the proprietary
software and algorithms entered into by the customers with the Group. The Group will recognize the expected
revenue in future when or as the work is completed, which is expected to occur over the next 12 to 36 months.

The Group has also applied the practical expedient in paragraph 121(a) of 1IFRS 15 and to its sales contracts
such that the above information does not include information about revenue that the Group will be entitled to when
it satisfies the remaining performance obligations under the contracts for sales that had an original expected duration
of one year or less.
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(b)  Segment reporting
(i)  Segment results

IFRS 8, Operating Segments, requires identification and disclosure of operating segment information based on
internal financial reports that are regularly reviewed by the Group's chief operating decision maker for the purpose
of resources allocation and performance assessment. On this basis, as for the purpose of making decisions about
respurces allocation and performance assessment, the Group's management reviews on the operating results of the
Group as a whole, the Group has determined that it only has one operating segment during the Track Record Period.

(if}  Geographic information

The geographical location of the Group's revenue from external customers are set out in the Note 4(a)(i). The
geogriaphical location of customers is based on the location at which the goods delivered or the services were
provided. The Group's non-current assets, including property and equipment and intangible assets are all located in

the PRC, and accordingly, no geographical information of non-current assets is presented.

5 OTHER NET INCOME

Yeur ended December 31, Five months ended May 31,
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RME GO0 RMB (00 RMB 000 RMB' 000 RMEBO00
(timenielited)
Government grants . . .. ... .. 2771 3,538 6.217 195 836
Investment income, . . .. ... .. 10,700 9,219 6,603 3.013 675
Vialue added tax and other tax
refund . . ..o 3,150 2,364 5,403 1.401 1,975
Interest inCoOMe: + -« v vu ox v 407 3.193 3,013 1.362 1,681
Net gains/(losses) on disposal of
property and equipment . . . . . 58 179 151 78 (62)
OWMETE.. v v 5s 5w 5% 5% 5 5 (L.277) 325 620 416 181

15,809 18,818 22,007 6465 5.286

6 LOSS BEFORE TAXATION
Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging:

(a) Finance costs

Year ended December 31, Five months ended May 231,
022 023 2024 2024 2025
RME OO0 RMB 000 RMEB 000 RME (00 RMEB 000

{unaudited)

Interest on bank loans . . . . . .. 43 312 113 3 -
Interest on lease liabilities . . . . . 1,038 245 54 2 23
1081 557 167 69 23
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(b)

(c)

Staff costs

Yeur ended December 31,

Five months ended May 31,

2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000
{ nimendited )

Salaries, wages and other

BaRBRIE:: o on wn wn wn wn oo 185,093 108.837 98.562 38.186 40,861
Contributions to defined

contribution retirement plan

{NOIE) o s i vie e e b wis 15478 10,878 9,324 3,855 4,090
Share-based payments expenses

(Nole 26} s s ox ox ox ox o - 12.558 22297 9.072 20,306

200,571 132,273 130,183 51,113 65,257

Note: The employees of the subsidiaries of the Group participate in defined contribution retirement benefit
scheme managed by the local government authorities, whereby these subsidiaries are required to
contribute to the schemes during the Track Record Period. Employees of these subsidiaries are entitled
to retirement benefits, calculated based on a percentage of the average salaries level in the PRC, from
the above-mentioned retirement scheme at their normal retirement age.

The Group has no further obligation for payment of other retirement benefits beyond the above
contributions. Contributions to the scheme vest immediately, there is no forfeited contributions that may
be used by the Group to reduce the existing level of contribution.

Other items

Naore
Cost of inventories . . .. ........ 4
Depreciation charge . ... ... .. .. 1
— owned property and equipment. . . .
— right-of-use assets. . .. .. .. .. ..
Amortization of intangible assets . . . 12
Listing exXpenses. . . . .. oo o
Increase in warranty liabilities . . . . . 20

24

Five months ended

Year ended December 31, May 3,
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RALE (i RALB (00 RMB'000 RMB 060 RMEB OG0
(unaudited)

85.300 71234 106876 32,063 41,077
2,359 3,755 5,127 1.868 2,556
10,930 4177 3,001 1.257 559
1.136 1.136 1.136 474 474
- - 3.238 - 16.838
4,728 5.492 6.349 1.253 1,920



(a)

(b)

INCOME TAX

Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting loss at applicable tax rates

Yenr ended December 31,

Five months ended May 31,

2022 2023 2024 2024 025
RATE GO0 RMB'000 RMB 000 RME 000 RME 000
{unandited )

Loss before taxation. . . .. .. .. (365.420) (264.523) (184.963) (83.968) (118.347)
National tax on loss before

taxation at PRC statutory tax

rate (Note (i) - . .. .. .. ... (91.355) (66,131) (46,241) (20.,992) (29,587)
Effect of additional deduction on

research and development

expenses (Note (ii)). . . .. ... (12,448} (10.786) (13.236) (5.230) (5,959)
Effect of preferential tax rate

(Notefii)lcse =5 =% == =5 =% = 24718 14.315 5,675 2,770 5474
Tax effect of non-deductible

expenses (Nore (i) . . ... .. 32392 34,365 36,432 16,790 19,182
Tax effect of unused tax losses

and temporary differences not

recognizedi: o os on o on e 46,693 28,237 17.370 6,662 10,890

INCOMEIa%: v is ox ox o ox o - — - — _

Nores:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

The Company and the subsidiaries of the Group established in the PRC are subject to PRC Corporate
Income Tax rate of 25% during the Track Record Period.

Under the PRC Income Tax Laws, an enterprise which qualifies as a High and New Technology
Enterprise (the “HNTE") is entitled to a preferential tax rate of 15% provided it continues to meet HNTE
qualification standards on an annual basis,

The Company gualifies as an HNTE and is entitled for a preferential tax rate of 15% from 2020 to 2026,
Shanghai Renyun Technology Co.. Ltd. qualifies as an HNTE and is entitled for a preferential tax rate
of 15% from 2021 to 2027. In addition to the preferential PRC Corporate Income Tax rate, the above
two entities are also entitled to an additional tax deductible allowance calculated at 100% of their
qualified research and development costs incurred in corresponding period, other subsidiaries are
entitled to an additional tax deductible allowance calculated at 75% of their qualified research and
development costs incurred before October |, 2022, and at 100% of qualified research and development
costs incurred from October 1, 2022,

Tax effect of non:-deductible expenses mainly represent the changes in the carrying amount of
redemption liabilities, share-based payments expenses and certain other costs and expenses, which all
are not deductible in accordance with relevant tax regulations in the PRC.

Deferred tax assets not recognized

The Group has not recognized deferred tax assets in respect of cumulative tax losses RMB716 million,

RMB897 million, RMB971 million and RMB983 million as at December 31. 2022, 2023 and 2024 and May 31, 2025,
respectively, as it is not probable that future taxable profits against which the losses can be utilized will be available
in the relevant tax jurisdiction and entity.



8 DIRECTORS® AND SUPERVISORS' EMOLUMENTS

Details of emoluments of directors and supervisors are as follows:

Executive directors

Ms. ZhiTeoc o o oo oo oo
Mr. He Quan . . . . ... ...
Mr. Li Quanyin. .. ......

Non-executive directors

Ms.MaHong ..........
Mr. Wu Minghui . . ... . ..
Ms. Ma Lan (Note (i), . . . .

Mr. Tu Hongchuan

(Note (i) . .. ... ......

Independent
non-executive directors

Mr. Wang Dong. . . ... ...
Mr. Xie Daxin. . . .. ... ..
Mr. Zhang Lihua . . ... ...

Supervisors

Ms. Ai Baoshu . .. .. .. ..
Mr. Xue Jinlong .. ... ...
Mi Yo Jugpe .. .. ... .

Executive directors

Ms.ZhiTao . . . .. ... ...
Mr. Hu Quan . . ........
Mr. Li Quanyin . . . ... ...

Non-executive directors

Ms. Ma Hong . . . ... .. ..
Mr. Wu Minghui .. .. .. ..
Ms. Ma Lan (Note (i)). . . . .

Yeur ended December 31, 2022

Salaries,
allowances Retirement Shure-based
Director’s  and benefits  Discretionary scheme payments
few in kind bonuses contributions Subtotal CXPEMSES Total
RME 000 RMB'000 RAE G080 RMB 000 RMB 000 RME 000 RME'000

(Nate ii)
- 1.611 - 58 1.669 - 1.669
- 1,575 - 58 1.633 - 1,633
- L277 - 96 1.373 - 1,373
- 4,463 = 212 4,675 - 4,675
150 - - - 150 - 150
150 - - - 150 - 150
150 - - - 150 - 150
450 - - - 450 - 450
- 593 - - 593 - 593
- 472 - 58 330 - 530
= 1.065 = 58 1,123 = 1123
450 5,528 - 270 6,248 - 6.248

Year ended December 31, 2023
Salaries,
allowances Hetirement Share-hased
Drector’s  and benefits  Discretionary scheme: payments
fee i Kind ses contributions Subtotal EXpenses Total
RMB 000 RMB'(0) RMB (K} RMEB (K} RME ™00 RME 000 RMEB'O00

(Nate if)
- 834 - 63 897 199 1,096
- 812 - 63 875 199 1.074
- 055 - 63 1.018 - 1.018
- 2.601 - 189 2,790 398 3,188
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Independent
non-executive directors

Mr. Wang Dong. . . ... ...
Mr. Xie Daxin. . . . ... ...
Mr. Zhang Lihua . . . ... .

Supervisors

Ms. Ai Baoshu . .. .. .. ..
Mr. Xue Jinlong .. ......
Mr. Yu Junjie .. .. .. oo o

Executive directors

M- ZW Ta0:: =5 v ¢ == =

Mr. He Quan . ... ......
Mr. Li Quanyin. .. ......

Non-executive directors

Ms.MaHong..........
Mr Wu Minghwi .. .. .. ..
Ms. Ma Lan (Neote (i)). . . . .

Independent
non-executive directors

Mr. Wang Dong. . . ... ...
Mr. Xie Daxin. . .. ......
Mr. Zhang Lihua . . .. .. ..

Supervisors

Ms. Ai Baoshu . . . ... ...
Mr. Xue Jinlong .. ... ...
Mr. Yo Junjie . . .. ... ..

Year ended December 31, 2023

Salaries,
allowances Retirement Share-based
Directors  and benefits Discretionary scheme payments
fee in kind bonuses contributions Subtotal EXPEnSEs Total
RME "G00 RME (00 RAMEB TN RME (00 RMA 00 RME Oy RME "G00
(Norte i)
150 - - - 150 - 150
150 - - - 150 - 150
150 = - - 150 - 150
450 - - - 450 - 430
- 555 - - 555 295 850
- 463 - 63 526 60 586
- 1.018 - 63 1,081 355 1436
450 3,619 - 252 4,321 753 5,074
Yeur ended December 31, 2024
Salaries,
allowances Retirement Share-based
Director™s  and benefits Diserelionary scheme paymenis
fee in kind honuses contributions Suhtotal EXPENSES Tatal
RMB 000 RMB0O00 RMBOM) RAME 000 RMEB 000 RME 000 RMB 000
(Note i)

- 1.360 300 66 2,126 341 2467
- 1,518 500 a6 2,084 341 2,425
- 1,338 280 66 1.684 - 1684
= 4,416 1.280 198 5.894 . 682 0,576
- 438 58 - 496 505 1,001
- 458 52 62 572 103 675
- 896 110 62 1,068 608 1,676
5312 1.390 260 6.962 1.290 8.252

Il
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Executive Directors

Ms. ZhiTao. .. o cv cx o
Mr. He Quan . . . . ... ...
Mr. Li Quanyin. .. .. .. ..

Non-executive directors

Ms. MaHong . . . ... ... .
Mr. Wa Minghui .. ... ...
Ms. Ma Lan (Note (i), . . . .

Independent

non-executive directors
Mr. Wang Dong (Nofe (iii)) .
Mr. Xie Daxin (Note (iii}) . .
Mr. - Zhang Lihoa - - -2 o
Mr. Lai Yung Yuet

fNote (iii)) . ... ... ...
Mr. Wang Fangjun

(Nate {iti)) == == =z =3 =z

Supervisors

Mr Ai Baoshu ... ... ...
Mr. Xue dinlong . . .. .. ..
Mz Ya lupjie .. .. .. .. ..

Five months ended May 31, 2025

Salaries,
ullowances Retirement Share-based
Drector’s  nnd benefits  Discretionory scheme: payments
fee in kind honuses  contributions Subtotal EXPENSEs Total
RME (0 RMB'000 RAB (00 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB'000 RMB 00
(Nurte i)

- 646 160 28 834 141 975
- 625 - 28 653 141 794
- 627 160 28 815 86 201
- 1,898 320 84 2302 368 2,670
31 - - = 3l - 31
i1 - = = 31 - 31
47 - = - 47 = 47
109 - - - 109 - 109
- 187 18 - 205 208 413
- 186 23 25 234 76 310
- 73 41 25 4349 284 723
109 2271 361 109 21,850 652 3,502
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Five months ended May 31, 2024 (unaudited)

Salaries,
allowances Retirement Share-based
Director’s  nod benefits  Discretionory scheme: payments
fee in kind honuses  contributions Subtotal EXPENSEs Total
RMEO00 RMB'000 RAE G0 RMB 000 RMB 000 RME 000 RME 000
(Numte i)

Executive Directors
Ms.ZhiTao. .. .. o0 s o - 640 11! 27 778 142 920
Mr. Hu Quan . .. ... .... - 623 111 27 761 141 902
Mr. Li Quanyin. .. .. .. .. - 540 85 27 652 - 652

- 1.803 307 81 2,191 283 2474
Non-executive directors
Ms. MaHong . . . ... ... . - - - ~ = = =
Mr. Wa Minghui .. ... ... - - - - - - ~
Ms. Ma Lan (Note (i), . . . . = — — — = — —
Independent non-executive

directors

Mr. Wang Dong. . . ...... - - - = = = =
Mr. Xie:Daxin. . .. .. oL - - - - - - -
Mr. Zhang Libua . . .. .. .. - - - = - = -
Supervisors
Mr Ai Baoshu . .. ... ... - 186 27 - 213 210 423
Mr Xue Jinlong .. .. .. .. - 190 21 27 238 43 281
Mr. Yu Junjie . ... ... ... - - - - - - -

- 376 48 27 451 2 704

2,179 355 108 2,642 336 3,178
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Notes:

(1)

(ii)

(1i1)

Mr. Tu Hongchuan resigned as a non-executive director on June 30, 2022, Ms, Ma Lan was appointed as a
non-executive director on the same day and resigned on February 6, 2025.

These represent the estimated value of share awards granted to the directors and supervisors under the Group's
share award plan. The value of share awards is measured according to the Group’s accounting policies for
share-based payments transactions as set out in Note 2(o)(ii) and in accordance with that policy. includes
adjustments 1o reverse amounts accrued in previous years where grants of awarded shares are forfeited prior
to vesting. The details of these benefits in kind. including the principal terms and number of awarded shares
granted, are disclosed in Note 26.

Mr. Wang Dong and Mr. Xie Daxin resigned as independent non-executive directors on February 6, 2025, and
Mr. Lai Yung Yuet and Mr. Wang Fangjun were appointed as independent non-executive directors on the same

day.

During the Track Record Period, no director or supervisor has waived or agreed to waive any emoluments and

no amounis were paid or payable by the Group to the directors and the supervisors as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of any office in connection with the management of the affairs of any
member of the Group.

9

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

The number of directors and other employees included in the five highest paid individuals for the years ended

December 31, 2022, 2023 und 2024 and five months ended May 31, 2024 and 2025 are set forth below:

Year ended December 31, Five months ended May 31,
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
Nuniber of Numiber of Number of Number af Nuniber of
individuals individuals individuals individieals individisaix
(nenedived )
DIreeiprs. . o o5 o5 0n 0s £ 06 2 = 2 1 |
Other employees . . . .. .. .. .. 3 5 3 B 4

The emoluments of the directors are disclosed in Note 8. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the

remaining highest paid individuals, are as follows:

Year ended December 31, Five months ended May 31,
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RME'000 RMBE 000 RME NG RME'0G0 RMEB 000
{uneniediced |
Salaries, allowances and benefits
T Iomd o i s s nis s Bis Bis 4,972 5,152 3,668 2.007 1,990
Discretionary bonuses. . . . . . .. - - 720 252 301
Share-based payments expenses
(Note 26) . . . . . . oo .. - 9,384 14,033 6,593 6,843
Retirement scheme contributions . 167 325 203 189 109
5,139 14.861 19,524 9.041 9,243
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The emoluments of the individuals who are not directors or supervisors and who are amongst the five highest

paid individuals of the Group are within the following bands:

Year ended December 31,

Five months ended May 31,

2022 2023 024 2024 2025
Numiber of Number of Number of Numiber of Number of
inelividduaix individuols imedividualy indfividinaly imdividals
{ el resf)

HKS$1.000,001 — HKS1.500,000 . . - 1 - 2 1
HKS$1.500.,001 — HK$2.000.000 . . 2 1 - - 1
HKS$2,000,001 — HKS2,500,000 . . 1 1 - 1 |
HK$3.500,001 — HK54.000.000 . . - 1 1 - -
HK$4.500,001 — HK$5.000,000 . . - - - - 1
HES$5.000,001 — HKS$5.500,000 . . - - | -
HK$7.500,001 — HKS$8,000,000 . . — 1 - - -
HKS$12,000,001 — HK$12,500.,000 . - - 1 - -

During the Track Record Period, no emoluments were paid by the Group to these individuals as an inducement
o join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office in connection with the management of the

affairs of any member of the Group.
10 LOSS PER SHARE

(a)  Basic loss per share

The calculation of the basic loss per share during the Track Record Period is based on the loss attributable to
ordinary equity shareholders of the Company and the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue.

Loss for the year attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company

Year ended Becember 3.

Five months ended May 31,

2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB (00 RMB 000 RMB 000 RME'O00
(uneruddived)

Loss for the year/period

attributable to all equity

shareholders of the Company . . (365.420) (264.523) (184.963) (83.968) (118.118)
Allocation of loss for the

vear/period atiributable to the

ordinary shares with

redemption rights

(Mate24) s v o ox ox ox o 250,487 181.325 126,788 57.558 80,967
Loss for the year/period

attributable to ordinary equity

sharcholders of the Company . . (114,933) (83,198) (58,175) (26,410) (37,151)
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Weighted average number of ordinary shares

Year ended December 31, Five months ended May 31,
nz2 023 2024 2024 2025
No. of shares No. of shares Nev af shares Na. of shares Nev, aof shares
oo 0o L] ‘0on e
(unaudited)
Issued ordinary shares at the
beginning of the year/period . . 61.818 61,818 61,818 61.818 61,818
Effect of ordinary shares with
redemption
rights (Note 24) . . . . .. .. .. (42.375) (42.375) (42.375) (42.375) (42,375)
Weighted average number of
ordinary shares at the end of
the yearfperiod. . . .. .. .. .. 190,443 19,443 19,443 19,443 19,443
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(b)  Diluted loss per share

Ordinary shares issued to investors with redemption rights (Note 24) were not included in the calculation of
diluted loss per share as their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive. Accordingly. diluted loss per share were the

same as basic loss per share for the respective years/periods.

11 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

The Group
Office
cquipment, Machinery and
furniture and production Leasehald Right-nl-use
lixtures quip impr " assets Total
RME 000 RMA™N RMEB'000 RME M0 RME 000

Cost:
At Japuary 1, 2022 . .. ... . 3.394 4.638 - 32,221 40,253
AADHEARE . v s ox ox ox ox o 840 6.129 - 3,640 10,609
Disposals . .. ... ... ...... (436) {16) = (11,112) (11.564)
At December 31, 2022 and

January 1, 2023 .. .. ... . 3,798 10.751 - 24,749 30,298
Addiions . . .. .. L. ... L. 105 6,314 062 6,434 13,815
DISpOSHS « cs oox soe sin nis s b (316) (2.081) - (23,4490) (25.887)
At December 31, 2023 and

January 1,2024 . . . .. ... .. 3,387 14,984 962 7.693 27,226
AARHONS & cx ox ve s s s s 263 9,820 - - 10,083
Lease modification . ... ... .. - — - (561) (561)
THENGSHE « o o= == 5= 5= 5= 5= (240) (862) - (2,958) {4,060)
At December 31, 2024 and

January 1,2025 . . ... ... .. 3.610 23,942 962 4174 32.688
Addifions -« cx cx cx ox ox o= oa 156 1.503 = 1.762 3.421
Disposals . . .. ... ........ - (1.838) (962) (2,915) (5.735)
AvrMay 31,2025, .. ... .... 3,766 23,587 - 3,021 30,374
Accumulated depreciation:
Avl January 2022, . .. ... ... (1.764) (1,070) - (2.428) (5.262)
Charge for the year . .. .. .. .. (750) (1.599) = (10.,930) (13.279)
Written back on disposal . . . . . . 375 5 - 5.363 5.743
At December 31, 2022 and

January 1, 2023 . 0 . 0 .00l (2.139) (2,664) - (7,995) (12,798)
Charge for the year . . . . .. ... (775} (2.543) (437) (4,177) (7.932)
Written back on disposal . . . ., . 282 1,108 - 8410 9,800
Al December 31, 2023 and

Januwary 1, 2024 . ... .. ... (2,632) (4.099) (437) (3.762) (10,930)
Charge for the year . . . . ... .. (566) (4,036) (525) (3.001) (8,128)
Written back on disposals . . . . . 206 142 - 2,958 3.306
At December 31, 2024 and

January 1, 2025 . . .. .. .. .. (2.992) (7.993) (962) (3.805) (15,752)
Charge for the period . . . .. . .. (150) (2.406) - (559) (3,115)
Written back on disposals . . . . . - 667 962 2915 4,544
AvMay 31,2025, o< o< oo oo e (3,142) (9,732) = (1,449) (14.323)
Net book value: -
At December 31, 2022 . ... ... 1.659 8.087 - 16,754 26,500
At December 31, 2023 .. .. .. 955 10,885 525 3.931 16,296
At December 31, 2024 . . .. . .. 618 15,949 = 369 16,936
AtMay 31,2025, . .. ... .... 624 13,855 - 1,572 16,051

33




The Company

Cost:

At January 1, 2022 . . ...
Additions .. .. .. .. ...
Disppsals .. .. .......

At December 31, 2022 and

January 1, 2023, ... ..
Additions . . .. .. .....
Disposals . . .. .. .. ...

At December 31, 2023 and

January 1, 2024, . . . ..
AGEHOEE 2 vz v o s »
Lease modification . . . . .
Disposals . . .. ... ....

At December 31, 2024 and

January 1, 2025, .. ...
Additions - . .. .. .. ...
Disposals . .. ........

At May 31,2025 ... ...

Accumulated
depreciation:

At 1 January 2022, . |

Charge for the year . . . . .

Written back on disposal. .

At December 31, 2022 and

Janvary 1, 2023, . . . ..
Charge for the year . . . ..
Written back on dispoesal. .

At December 31, 2023 and

January 1, 2024 .. ..
Charge for the year. . . . .
Written back on disposals .

At December 31, 2024 and

January 1, 2025. . . _ ..
Charge for the period. . . .
Written back on disposals .

At May 31,2025 . .. ...

Net book value:
At December 31, 2022 . _ .

At December 31, 2023 | | |
Al December 31, 2024 . | .

At May 31,2025 ... ...

Difice
eyuipment. Machinery and
furniture and production Leasehold Right-of-use
fixtures equipment improvement askets Total
RMB (00 RMEB 000 RMB 000 RME 000 RMB 000
1.589 2.349 - 20,736 24674
410 3.754 - - 4164
(4) (1) - - (15)
1,995 6.092 = 20,736 28,823
105 4,743 962 5.681 11,491
(264) (113) - (20,736) (21.113)
18306 10.722 962 5.681 19.201
261 8.792 - 9,053
= - - (561) (561)
(161) (697) - (2,958) (3.816)
1.936 18.817 962 2,162 23.877
156 1. 496 - - 1,652
= (1,408) (962) (2.162) (4,532)
2,092 18,905 - - 20,997
(1.008) (651) = = (1,659)
(327) (746) = (6,912) (7.985)
2 3 _ - 5
(1,333) (1.394) - (6.912) (9.639)
(327) (1,308) (437) (3,128) (5,200)
237 18 - 7,200 7.455
(1423 {2.684) (437) (2.840) (7.384)
(255) {2,936) (525) (2.190) (5.906)
131 120 - 2,958 3.209
(1,547) (5.500) (962) (2,072) (10,081)
192) (1.829) - (90) (2.011)
- 378 962 2,162 3,502
(1.639) (6.951) = - (8,590)
662 4.698 - 13.824 19,184
413 8.038 525 2.841 11,817
389 13.317 - 90 13,796
453 - 12,407
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The analysis of expense items in relation to leases recognized in the Group's profit or loss is as follows:

Year ended December 31, Five months ended May 31,
n22 2023 2024 2024 025
RME'00 RMB 000 RME 000 RMEB'O0O0 RME 000

{ nimendited )

Depreciation charge of

right-of-use assets. . . ... ... 10,930 4177 3,001 1.257 559
Expense relating 1o short-term

JEAKEE ... . v o o mm m o s 2574 2,103 1,543 795 1,105
Interest on lease liabilities

(NozeOlakl= == == == =% =% = 1038 245 54 26 23

Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity analysis of lease liabilities are set ount in Notes 18(e}
and 23, respectively.

12 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The Group and The Company

Software and

capyrights

RMB 000
Cost:
A TR TS s P o oy o oo o o £0 G0 G0 £70 GID G0 510 G0 £ID 610 S0 £In S0 £aa ¢ 2,851
Addiions = . =z 53 53 53 53 53 5 (G GG GG GG G Gl Gl SR SGD SGD SR SR SRR S X 2.830
At December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 and May 31,2025 . . . ... ..o 5.681
Accumulated amortization:
N ET Ve P b 0P DA o o oo oo o cuD S0 S0 S0 570 S0 G100 S0 C0D £0D 610 80 60 60 60 € (143)
Chargelfor theryear-oz =z =z 52 53 G0 o G0 ©d Gl o0 oo G N N NN NG NE N S22 (1,136)
At December 31, 2022 and January 1, 2023 . (. o0 o o0 Sl S N S GG sl S DR L (1,279)
EHAC-Tor eI o o o ams ams oz Ok O O DR DR DK O DS NS SR NG NG NG OF © (1.136)
At December 31; 2023 and January 12024 . 0L ol ol v i v v v s s e s s (2.415)
Chafpe FaP HRIVEAT . o v ooz wxs sxs ws o5 s ws i1 Vs 40w 503 0% ¥ Ho¥ Sow Eo¥ sy SR N {1,136)
At December 31, 2024 and January 1, 2025, .. o0 vin ve v e v v e e we ae s (3.351)
L ] o T o T« {474)
ANy AL TORE L Ll s hd bea sia e bes 5s 5o ks bd s wem B8 med W w3 8 e S (4.025)
Net book value:
AU DeCember 31, 2022, . ti vis eis eis as as e as as avs s s s e wow we s s s 4.402
At December 3L, 20230, . . . i ii i e ee s e se s e s s b me ws e se s 3.266
AUCDecemiBBy 32 2OM- v s v w3 WS T SE SF T S OG 4T9 08 337 0 A% 307 308 308 § 2,130
RGO IVATL SN o oo oo m o ) o (R0 TRD (RO (%0 0RO (%D RO ) EhE G B B e e o 1,656

The amortization charge for the Track Record Period is included in “Research and development expenses™ and
“Cost of sales” in the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

35



13

14

INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES

The Company

Investments in subsidiaries, at cost .
Amounts due from subsidiaries

(NOfE) vc o am a5 a5 2 a3 a2

Note:

As ot December 31,

As at May 31,
2025

2022 023 2024
RMB'(n1 RAR 000 RME 000 EMA (00
58,983 58,983 67.588 70,391
272,132 297.617 336,038 347,849
331,115 356.600 403,626 418,240

Amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecored, interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment.
The directors regard the amounts as non-current as they do not intend to request repayment of the amounts
within twelve months from the end of the reporting period.

INVENTORIES

The Group

Finished goods . . . .. .........
Work in progreéss . .. .. .. .. ...
Raw materials . .. .. .........

Less: Write down of inventories . . .

As ot December 31,

As nt May 31,
2022 2023 2024 2025
RME'000 RMB 000 RME 000 RMB 000
48.196 37.647 36.505 34,463
1,994 3,907 833 1.674
21.454 17,982 13,371 12,848
71,644 59,536 50,709 48,985
(2.937) (1.281) (1,943) (2,640)
68,707 58.255 48.766 46,345
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The analysis of the amount of inventories recognized as an expense and included in profit or loss of the Group
is as follows:

Carrying amount of inventories

Sy e
Write down of inventories . . . . .

The Company

Finished goods . . . .. ... .....
Work in progress . .o...LL L.
Raw materials . .. ..........

Less: Write down of inventories . . .

TRADE RECEIVABLES

The Group

Trade receivables from:

— Third parties . . . .. .. 00 uun
Less: loss allowance . . . .. . ...

The Company

Trade receivables from:

— Third parties . . . .. ... ... ..
Less: loss allowance . . . .. . . ..

Year ended December 31,

Five months ended May 31,

2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB'000 RME'000 RMEB'000 RME'000 RMB'000
(mnaudited)
85,092 70,345 106,214 31,957 40,380
217 889 662 306 697
85,300 71,234 106,876 32,063 41,077
As ot December 31,
As nt May 31,
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMEB'000 RMB 000 RME 000 RMB'O00
46,015 35.963 32474 30,597
1,994 3,903 833 1,674
21,453 16,139 13,160 12,549
69,462 56,005 46,467 44 820
(2.900) (1.244) (1,906) (2.603)
66,562 54.761 44.561 42,217
As at December 31,
As ut May 3L
022 023 2024 2028
RME (00 RME (00 RMEB (i) RME (00
61,883 31541 79.767 T1.664
(19.,480) (15,017) (18,608) (18,290)
42,403 16,5324 61,159 53,374
As st December 31,
As ut May 3L
022 023 2024 2028
RMEB'(00 RAR 000 RME (K RME'G00
61.198 31.281 76,504 68,315
(19.431) {14,925 (17.977) (17,352)
41,767 16.356 58.527 50,963

All of the trade receivables are expected to be recovered within one year.
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Aging analyses

As at the end of each reporting period. the aging analysis of trade receivables, based on the invoice date, is

as follows:
The Group
As ot December 31,
As at May 31,
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB 000 RMB 100 RMB 000 RMB 000

Within:l yearz: =z 5z 5z =z 5z =53 @ 41,958 17,192 74337 66,147
] SN o avs 30w aos aim e e s 19,925 14,349 5,430 5.517

61,883 31541 79,767 71,664

28(a).
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Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk arising from trade receivables are set out in Note

The Company

As at December 31,

As at May 31,
2025

2022 2023 2024
RMEB'000 RMH 000 RMB 000 RME 060
Welhin] year-= s v v as a9 ae s 41.390 17.061 T1.342 63476
| PO-2yBRrE: o ae 3 ama e a0s 3 s 19,808 14,220 5,162 4,839
61,198 31.281 76,504 68,315
PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
The Group
As ot December 31,
As mt May 31,
2022 2023 2024 2025
RME'000 RMB 000 RMB 00 RMA 000
Prepayments for inventories and
SeIVICESma oa w3 wis w13 wis wis e e 4.726 4.057 5.843 9,556
Prepayments for costs incurred in
connection with the proposed
initial public offering (Nore (ii)). . - - 786 4277
4.726 4,057 6.629 13,833
Deductible value-added tax . . . . . . 14,430 13,807 6,619 5.535
DEPOSItET 205 200 as avs oes oed oed o s 5,866 3.716 3,796 4,533
OWBrs = w2 o2 o5 o5 W wE 0E 0S4 1.878 L.OY0 1608 2222
22,174 18.613 12,023 12,290
TORAL: o2 o wo oe os o o o3 a3 s 26,900 22,670 18,652 26,123
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The Company

As at December 31,

As st May 31,
2025

2022 2023 2024
RMB'000 RAB 000 RMB 000 RME 00
Prepayments for inventories and
EREGIEER - oz o v v o s e 4,164 3,594 3.867 7.665
Prepayments for costs incurred in
connection with the proposed
initial public offering (Note (ii)). . - - 786 4,277
4,164 3.594 4,653 11,942
Deductible value-added tax . . . . . _ 11.461 9,325 1.023 504
DEPOSTIS: 2n 2x an @x ate ats ats T G 5.183 3404 3.556 4.098
BRI o o o o) g o @ 00 O 860 730 1,228 1,595
17,504 13,459 5,807 6,197
Fotalz o= o= o2 v v v 9 9 0e 4 21.668 17.053 10,460 18,139

Notes:

(iy  All of the prepayments, deposits and other receivables are expected to be recovered or recognized as

expenses or transferred to equity within one vear.

(ii)  The balances will be transferred to the capital reserve account within equity upon the listing of the

Company’s H shares on the Stock Exchange.

FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

The Group

As ot December 31,

As mt May 31,
2025

Naote:

2022 2023 2024
RMB'000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMA'060
Wealth management products
(Note (1)) == w3 w3 w3 w3 a3 w3 s 307.276 113.629 141,928 25,021
The Company
As at December 31,
As at May 3L
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RAME 000 RMB 000 RMB'000
Wealth management products
(Nt 25 wes wes wea wis s wes s 272,189 113,629 141,928 25,021

(i) As at December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 and May 31, 2025, the wealth management products were
issued by reputable financial institutions in the PRC. The principal amount and expected returns of these
wealth management products are not poaranteed. Further information on the fair value measurement is

disclosed in Note 28(e).
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18  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, TIME DEPOSITS, RESTRICTED CASH AND OTHER CASH
FLOW INFORMATION

(a) Cash and cash equivalents

The Group
As ot December 31,
As al May 31,
2022 2023 2024 2025
RME'000 RMB 000 RME 000 RME' 000
Cash at bank balances . . . ... ... 117,051 184,966 127,357 85,568
Less: restricted cash (Note) . . . . .. 5,395 10,833 21,876 10,433
Cash and cash equivalents. . . . . .. 111,656 174,133 105,481 75,135
The Company
As at December 31,
As at May 31,
2022 023 2024 2028
RME (00 RME 000 RME 000 RMEB 000
Cash at bank balances . . .. ... .. 114,541 179,675 122,665 83,641
Less: restricted cash (Note) . . . . .. 5,395 10,832 21.876 10,433
Cash and cash equivalents. . . . . . _ 109,146 168,843 100,789 73,208

Note:

As at December 31, 2022, 2023, 2024 and May 31, 2025, restricted cash was mainly held at bank as security
deposits for bank acceptance bills.

(b) Time deposits with bank

The Group and The Company

As at December 31,

As nt May 31,
2025

Jaz2 023 2024
RME'000 RMB 000 RME 0001 RME' 000
Time deposits:
=Current . . ... .. 54,123 20,000 30,764 84,947
— Non-current . . ... ......:.: - §1.585 63,230 101,453
54,123 101,585 93,999 186,400

(c) Reconciliation of loss before taxation to cash used in operations

Five months ended
Year ended December 31, Muy 31,

Niste 2022 023 2024 2024 2028

RME'(:00 RME'000 RME000 RME 000 RMEB 00
{enandited)

Loss before taxation . . . . ... .... (365.420) (264.523) (184.963) (83.,968) (118347
Adjustments for:
Amortization and depreciation . . . . /&2 14,415 9,068 9,264 3,599 3,589
Impairment loss on trade
receivables . . .. .. .. ...... 10,075 7.647 9.657 1.760 3.862
Impairment loss on inventories . . . 14 217 889 662 306 697
Finance costs . . . . .. ... ... .. 6ia) 1.081 557 167 69 23
Equity settled share-based payment
BXPENSES:: 5E 5F 5F aF 8F 8E 6ib) = 12.558 22,297 9,072 20,306
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Changes in the carrying amount of
redemption liabilities

(Gain)/loss on disposal of property
and equipment
[nvestment income
Interest income
Foreign exchange loss . . .. ... ..
Changes in working capital:
(Increase)fdecrease in restricted

Decrease/(increase) in trade
receivables
{lncrease)/decrease in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables. . .
(Decrease)/increase in trade and
bills payables. . . . ... ......
Increasef(decrease) in other
payables and accruals. . . .. ...
(Decrease)/increase in contracl
liabilities . . ... ..........
Increase/(decrease) in deferred
MMCOMe . -, .. .o ovvsis oo
Decrease in inventories . . . ... ..

Cash used in operations

(d)

Five months ended

Year ended December 31, May M,
Nate 2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RME 000 Ry8 000 RME (00 RME 00 RMB OO0
{naidlited)
24 131,508 131,508  131.869 54,765 54,405
5 (38) (179) (151) (78) 62
5 (10,700} 9,219) (6.603) (3.013) (673)
(123) (2.677) (2,824) (1.239) (1,627)
o L= - - 15
(3.147) (5.438) (11.043) 1,002 11,443
9427 18238  (54292)  (7.600) 3,923
(17.030) 4.423 4,055 1,110 (4.547)
(10.418) 10,257 19,379 (7.883) (15.616)
16,483 (4,344 14.669 (177) (3.078)
(9.041) 7.707 4221 2,017 (8,439)
19,060 (400) (4,197) 803 (707)
43279 7.558 6.351 9,899 1,724
(170.392) (76,370) (41,482) (19,556) (52,987)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

The wble below details changes in the Group's liabilities from finuncing activities, including both cash and
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which cash flows were. or future cash
flows will be, classified in the Group's consolidated statements of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

At January 1, 2022

Changes from financing cash flows:

Proceeds from new bank loans. . . _ . _
Interest paid. < o« cx o ox ox ox os
Capital element of lease rentals paid . _
Interest element of lease rentals paid. .

Total changes from financing cash
TOWS -2 o4 i o5 0% 5% 0% ox ox o6

Other changes:

Increase in lease liabilities from
entering into new leases during
the year

Decrease in lease liabilities from
termination of leases . . . . .. .. ..

Changes in the carrying amount of
redemption liabilities . . . ., .. .. .

Interest on lease liabilities (Note 6f{a)).

Interest expenses (Note 6(a)). . . . . . .

Total other changes. . . . . .. ... ..

At December 31, 2022

Oth
Lease: Redemption pny:nhle?nn.d
Bank loans linhilifies linhilities accrmls Tatal
RME 000 RME 000 RMEB (NN RME (W) RME 000
{Nare 22} {Nate 23| (Note 24)
- 29,357 1,475435 808 1,505,690
15,000 - - - 15.000
(35) - = = (35)
- (10.168) - - (10,168)
- (1,038) - -~ (1,038)
14,965 (11.206) - - 3,759
- 3,640 - - 3,640
- (5.851) = = (5.851)
- - 131.508 - 131,508
- 1,038 - - 1,038
43 = = - 43
43 (L173) 131,508 - 130,378
15.008 16,978 1,606,943 808
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At January 1,2023 - . o oL ol o

Changes from financing cash flows:

Proceeds from new bank loans. . . . . .
Repayment of bank loans. . . . . . . ..
Interest paid™= - cu o su s s sn s
Capital element of lease rentals paid . .
Interest element of lease rentals paid . .

Total changes from financing cash
N 0 B0 B0 B £ 5 B B £ B

Other changes:

Increase in lease liabilities from
entering into new leases during
LT e e e e e e e o o

Decrease in lease liabilities from
termination of leases . . .. .. .. ..

Changes in the carrying amount of
redemption liabilities . . . .. ... ..

Interest on lease liabilities (Note 6(a)) .

Interest expenses (Nare 6(a)). . . . . . .

Total other changes. . . . . .. ... ..

At December 31,2023 ., . . ... .. ..

At Janoary 1, 2024 . . . .. .. ...

Changes from financing cash flows:

Repayment of advance received from
arelated party . . . .. .. ... ...

Capital element of lease rentals paid . .

Interest element of lease rentals paid. .

Total changes from financing cash
IOWE =i i i ox ox o o= ox ox o

Other changes:

Decrease in lease liabilities rom lease
modification ~ =~ =5 =~ =% = = &

Changes in the carrying amount of
redemption liabilities . . . . . ... ..

Interest on lease liabilities (Note 6{a)).

Interest expenses (Nare 6(a)). . . . . ..

Total other changes. . . . . . ... ...

At December 31, 2024 , ., . . ... . .

Other

Lease Redemption payables and
Bank loans linhilities linhilities acermals Tatal
EME 000 RMB 000 RME 000 RMB'G00 RAME 000
(Nine 22) (Note 23) {Nore 24)
15.008 16,978 1.606.943 898 1,639,827
5.000 - - - 5,000
(15.000) - - - (15.,000)
(320) - = - (320)
= (3.806) — = (3.806)
- (245) = - (245)
(10.320) (4.051) = - (14,371)
= 6.434 = S 6.434
- (15.613) - - (15.613)
= - 131,508 - 131,508
245 - - 245
312 - - - 312
312 (8,934) 131,508 - 122,886
5.000 3,993 1,738.451 898 1,748,342
Other
Lease Redemption payables and
Bank loans linhilities linhilities necrunls Total
RME 000 RME 000 RURO00 RME" 000 RME'00
(Note 22) (Nate 23) (Nite 24)
5,000 3,993 1,738,451 898 1,748,342
(5.000) - = - (5.000)
(113) - - — (113)
= 5 = (898) (898)
= (2.827) = - (2.827)
= (54) = = (54)
(5,113} (2.881) - (898) (8.892)
- (814) = = (B14)
- - 131.869 - 131,869
= 54 = = 54
113 - - - 113
113 (760) 131.869 - 131,222
- 352 1.870.320 -
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Redempiion

Leuse liabilities linhilities Total
RME OG0 RME'000 RME 000
(Nare 23) (Nore 24)
At Janoary 1,.2028 . ... .00 s e v v v s 352 1,870,320 1,870,672
Changes from financing cash flows:
Capital element of lease rentals paid . . .. .. .. (584) - (584)
Interest element of lease rentals paid . . .. .. .. 23) - (23)
Total changes from financing cash flows. . . . . (607) - (607)
Other changes:
Increase in lease liabilities from entering into
new leases during the period. . . . . ... .. .. 1.762 - 1,762
Changes in the carrying amopunt of redemption
liabilities . . . . . . . .. . ... ... - 54,405 54,405
Interest on lease liabilities (note 6(al) . . . . . . . 23 - 23
Total other changes . . . . . ... .. .. ... ... 1.7835 54,405 56,190
AL NIAY 3L, 2025 % a2 ax 3w awa aa asa em e s 1,530 1,924,725 1,926,255
Other
Lease Redemption payvables and
Bank loans linhilities linhilities neerunls Total
RMBE' 00 RMEB 00U RMB ' RME 000 RMEB 060
(Noze 22} (Note 23) (Nowe 24)
{unaudited)
At January 1,2024 . . . ... ...... 5.000 3,993 1.738.451 898 1,748,342
Changes from financing cash flows:
Interest B, - o v o 5 s s s (18) - - - (18)
Capital element of lease rentals paid . . - (1.391) - = (1,391)
Interest element of lease rentals paid. . = (26) - - (26)
Total changes from financing
cash:lOWS: -5 =5 =5 =% =5 =5 &5 &= (18) (L4 - - (1,435)
Other changes:
Decrease in lease liabilities from lease
modification . . .. ... ... .. ... - (814) - - (814)
Changes in the carrying amount of
redemption liabilities . . . . .. .. .. - ~ 54.765 ~ 54,765
Interest on lease liabilities (note 6(a)) . - 26 - - 26
Interest expenses (nore 6(a)) . . . . . .. 43 - = - 43
Total other changes. . . ... ... ... 43 (788) 54,765 - 54,020
At May: 31, 2004'- 5 v 2o 5o o so s 5.025 1,788 1,793,216 898 1,800,927
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(e)

Total cash outflow for leases

Amounts included in the consolidated

comprise the following:

19

Within operating cash flows
Within financing cash flows

TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

The Group

Trade payables
— Third parties . . . . ... .. .....
Bills payable. . . . . .. .. ... ...

The Company

Trade payables
— Third parties . . . .. .. .......
Bills payable. . . . . ... .......

statements of cash flows for leases represent lease rental paid and

Year ended December 31,

Five months ended May 31,

2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RME 000 RAR 000 RMB o RME 000 RMB 000
funaidited)

(2.574) (2,103) (1.543) (795) (1.105)
(11,206) (4.051) (2.881) (1,417) (607)
(13.780) (6,154) (4.424) (2,212) (1,712)

As at December 31,
As ot May 31,
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB000 RME (000 RME 000 RMB (00
9.912 15.947 21,684 15,736
11.204 15,426 20,068 19400
21,116 31373 50,752 35,136
As at December 31,
As at May 31,
022 an23 2024 2028
RMB'000 RMB O RME 000 RMB'O00
8.204 14.580 21.248 15,390
11,204 15,426 29.068 19,400
19,408 30,006 50.316 34,790

As at the end of each reporting period. the aging analysis of trade and bills payables, based on the invoice date,
is as follows:

The Group

Within one year or on demand . . . .

The Company

Within one year or on demand . . . .

All of the trade and bills payables are expected to be setiled within one year or are repayable

As at December 31,

As ot May 31,
2022 an23 2024 2028
RME (a6 RMB (N0 RME 000 AMEB'(H)
21,116 31,373 50,752 35,136
As ot December 31,
As at May 31,
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'O00 RME G000 RME 000 RME 000
19.408 30.006 50.316 34,790

44
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OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

The Group
As ot December 31,
As nt May 31,
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB 000 AR 000 RMB 000 RME (00

Payroll and welfare payable. . . . . . 13.828 8.054 17,331 11.821
Payables for services . . . .. ..... 4.959 3.449 6,808 9,405
Deposits and others. . . .. ... ... 4,804 7,506 4,792 4.346
Financial liabilities measured at

amortized cost. . . . ... ... ... 23,591 19,009 28,931 25,572
Value added tax and other tax

PEYABIES- - oo e ave 30w ave a0e we s 6,293 6.827 7.547 7,129
Refund lLiabilities (Note (iii)) . . . . . 2,414 2.061 4,127 5.168
Warranty liabilities (Note (ii)) . . . . 2,364 2,480 3,543 3,201

34,662 30,377 44,148 41,070

The Company

As at December 31,

As nt May 31,
2025

2022 2023 2024
RME000 RMBE 000 RME 000 RMB'000
Payroll and welfare payable. . . . . . 9.467 5.705 13,619 9.398
Payables forsernvices . .« «x cx o o 4,008 2353 4914 8,204
Deposits and others . . . .. ... ... 3,238 3.575 2,168 2717
Financial liabilities measured at
amortized costo: -2 o2 o o ot 16,713 11.633 20.701 20,319
Vilue added tax and other tax
payables . .. ............. 5,425 6.040 7,035 6,477
Refund liabilities (Note (iii}) . . . . . 2,315 2.022 4.046 5.106
Warranty liabilities (Nete (ii)) . . . . 2.268 2436 3.469 3,164
26,721 22,131 35,251 35,066

Notes:

(iy  All of the other payables and accruals are expected 1o be settled within one year or are repayable on
demand.

(i)  Movement of provision for warranties is as below:

The Group
Year ended December 31, Five months
ended May 31,
2022 2023 2024 2025
RME (00 RME 0N RME 000 RME 000

At the beginning of the

year/period. . .. .. .. ... 3.628 2364 2,480 3,543
Additional provisions made . . 4,728 5.492 6,349 1,920
Provisions utilized. . . . . . . . (5,992) (5.376) (5.286) (2,262)
At the end of the year/period . 2,564 2480 3,543 3.201
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The Company

Year ended December 31, Five months
ended May 31,
3022 2023 2024 n25
RMB'000 RMB 000 RME 00D RMB (00
At the beginning of the

vear/period . .. ... ... .... 3.628 2,268 2,436 3,469
Additional provisions made. . . . . 2,388 2,793 4,980 1,597
Provisions utilized . . . .. ... .. (3,748) (2.625) (3.947) (1,902)
At the end of the year/period. . . . 2.268 2436 3.46Y9 3164

Under the terms of the Group's sales agreements, the Group will rectify any product defects mainly arising
within 12 months of the date of sales. Provision is therefore made for the best estimate of the expected settlement
under these agreements in respect of sales made within the 12 months prior to the end of each reporting period. The
amount of provision takes into account the Group’s recent experience and is only made where a warranty claim is
probable.

(iii) Movement of refund liabilities is as below:

The Group
Year ended December 31, Five months
ended Muy 31,
2022 2023 2024 2025
RIE000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RME 000

At the beginning of the

VEAPEO .2 vz s ez es s s 3,704 2414 2,061 4,127
Additional provisions made. . . .. 2,208 2,269 3,023 1,750
Provisions utilized . . . .. ... .. (3.498) (2.622) (957) (709)
At the end of the yearfperiod. . _ . 2414 2.061 4.127 5.168
The Company

Yeur ended December 31, Five months
ended May 31,
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMEB 000 RMB (00 RME(Hi) BME OO0

At the beginning of the

VEITIPEHON oo e s o3 33 s o 3,624 2.315 2,022 4,046
Additional provisions made. . . . . 2,046 2.215 2,937 1,727
Provisions utilized . . . .. ... .. (3,355) (2.508) (913) (667)
At the end of the year/period. . . . 2,315 2,022 4.046 5.106
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CONTRACT LIABILITIES

The Group

Contract liabilities
Current

— Billing in advance of performance . . .

Non-current

— Billing in advance of performance . . .

The Company

Contract liabilities
Current

— Billing in advance of performance . . .

Non-current

~ Billing in advance of performance . . .

As at December 31,

As at May 31,

Movements in contract liabilities are as below:

The Group

Balance at the beginning of the

vearipeol o i i i e e e

Decrease in contract liabilities as a
result of recognizing revenue during
the year/period that was included in

the contract liabilities at the beginning
of the year/period . ... .........
Increase in contract liabilities as a result
of billing in advance of performance .

Balance at the end of the year/period. . .

2022 2023 2024 2025
RME 00 RME 000 RME 000 RME w00
33.738 40,351 44,718 35.683
3,948 5.042 4.896 5,492
37,686 45,393 49614 41,175
Asx at December 31,
As at May 31,
2022 2023 2024 2028
RMB' 000 RME 000 RME 000 RMEB O
32,154 39,133 44,368 35,443
3,948 5,042 4.896 5.492
36,102 44175 49264 40,935
Year ended December 31, Five months
ended May 31,
2022 2023 2024 2023
RME KK RMEB 000 RME 0 BMSB
42,115 37.686 45,393 49614
(34.523) (32.920) (39,491) (20,742)
30.096 40,627 43.712 12.303
37.686 45.393 49.614 41.175
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The Company

Balance at the beginning of the
yearfpemiod ©="5z 5z iz gz az sz omaw

Decrease in contract liabilities as a
result of recognizing revenue during
the year/period that was included in
the contract liabilities at the beginning
of the year/period . . ...........

Increase in contract liabilities as a result
of billing in advance of performance .

Balance at the end of the year/period. . .

Year ended December 31, Five months
ended May 31,
2022 20623 2024 025
RME (W) EMEB 000 RMEB'(HH) RME 000
40,032 36,102 44175 40264
(32,531) (31.417) (38,270) (20.485)

28.601 39.490 43.359 12,156
36.102 44175 49,264 40,935

All of the current contract liabilities are expected to be recognized as income within one year.

BANK LOANS

At December 31, 2022 and 2023, the bank loans were all unsecured and repayable within | year.

During the years ended December 31, 2022

LEASE LIABILITIES

d 2023, the bank loans bear interest ranging from 2.30% (o
2.80% per annum and 2.65% per annum., respectively.

The lease liabilities were repayable as follows as of the end of each reporting period:

The Group
As at December 31,
As at May 31,
2022 023 2024 2025
BEMB'DOG RME 000 RME 000 RMBO00
Within 1 $E8F.2 vz vz ooz s eis ocs o 8,778 3,775 352 593
After | year but within 2 years. . . . 7,982 218 - 395
After 2 years but within 5 years . . . 218 - - 342
8,200 218 - 937
16,978 3,993 352 1,530
The Company
As ot December 31,
As at May 31,
022 023 2024 2025
RMB'DOG RME 000 RME 0 RMRBO00
Within § JE8lca vz s o ss es o3 o 7.147 2,972 - -
After | year but within 2 years. . . . 6.736 - -
13.883 2972 - -
REDEMPTION LIABILITIES
The Group and the Company
As at December 31,
As i May 31,
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB 000 RME 0 RMB 000 RMB'000
Redemption liabilities . .. ... ... 1.738.451 1,870,320 1.924.725

1,606,943
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The movements of the redemption liabilities during the Track Record Period are set out below:
The Group and the Company

Redemption linbilities

RMB 000
KOTOROER T 2002 c cx s s sxm sm o wn Nn N B NGB GBS G G E0E E0E E0E i 1.475.435
Changes in the carrying amount of redemption liabilities . . . .. .. ... ... .. ... 131,508
At December 31, 2022 and January 1, 2023 .. 0. .. ... L 1,606,943
Changes in the carrying amount of redemption liabilities . . . . . . .. ... ... ... 131,508
At December 31, 2023 and January 1,2024 . 0. o0 o0 o0 GGl S Gg sl S s 1.738.451
Changes in the carrying amount of redemption liabilities . . . . . . .. ... .. ..... 131,869
At December 31, 2024 and January 1, 2025 0 00 oL vl v v i v v v e e e s 1.870,320
Changes in the carrying amount of redemption liabilies . . . . . . . . ... ... ... 54,405

ALMAY T 2028 2 s e wim wis eus wm ens e e ans s e AR E0E E0E SR WS Egw S s 1,924,725

From 2014 1o 2021, the Company conducted several rounds of financing by issuing registered capital or
ordinary shares to investors and the investors were granted a right to put back to the Company the registered capital
or ordinary shares acquired upon the occurrence of any of the following events: (i) no qualified initial public offerings
(the “Qualified IPO") has been consummated as at September 30, 2024 (ii) any material breach of the agreements
made with the financing investors under the transaction documents: (iii) the ordinary shares directly held by any
management shareholder is less than 50% of the ordinary shares directly held by such management sharcholder at
the closing of the pre-1PO round financing.

The redemption price is the investment amount paid by the investors, plus an annual simple interest rate of
10% on the investment amount for the period commencing from the relevant payment date of investment amount to
the date on which the investors receive payments for redemption. and any undistributed accumulated profits
attributable to the investors.

Pursuant 1o a supplemental agreement entered into in March 2025, the redemption rights were suspended on
the date immediately before the date of the first submission of listing application to the Stock Exchange. and shall
be restored upon the earlier of (i) the date when the Company's listing application is withdrawn or rejected: or (ii)
18 months after the first submission of the listing application to the Stock Exchange if the [PO has not completed
by then. The redemption rights will automatically expire upon the qualified initial public offering of the Company's
H shares on the Stock Exchange.
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25  DEFERRED INCOME

Deferred income of the Group mainly includes various conditional government grants for research and
development projects, which will be recognized as income in the same periods in which the expenses for the
development project are incurred and the conditions are met. Movements of the balances during the Track Record
Period are as follows:

The Group
Yeur ended December 31, Five months
ended Muay 31,
2022 2023 2024 2025
RME'O00 RMB (N0 RME 000 AME'()

At the beginning of the year/period . - 19,060 18.660 14,463
Government grants received during

the year/period . ... ........ 19,060 1.000 803 -
Amortization during the year/period . - (1.400) (5,000) (707)
At the end of the year/period . . . . . 19,060 18,660 14,463 13,756
The Company

Year ended December 31, Five months
ended May 31,
2622 2023 2024 2025
RMB'O00 RME G000 RMB 000 RMEB O

At the beginning of the year/period . - 1.560 1,160 1,963
Government grants received during

the yearfperiod . . ... ....... 1,560 1.000 803 -
Amortization during the year/period . - (1,400) - -
At the end of the year/period . . . . . 1.560 1160 1.963 1,963

26 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS TRANSACTIONS

In December 2020, the Group adopred a share incentive plan (the “Plan™), pursuant to which the Group was
authorized to grant awarded shares to eligible employees and consultants of the Group. The maximum number of
shares available for the awards under this Plan is 4,376,375 shares, which is held by Beijing Yunji Angel Management
Partnership (Limited Partnership) (the “Yunji Angel Management™). The Yunji Angel Management is controlled and
managed by the controlling shareholder of the Company.

The awards are conditional upon the successful completion of an 1PO. The Group determines the share-based
payments expenses at a date of grant of awarded shares with reference to the estimation of the probability and timing
of successful IPO since IPO condition is considered as a vesting condition. As at December 31, 2023, 2024 and May
31, 2025, the Group assessed that it is probable that the IPO condition will be achieved in the foreseeable future, and
share-based payments expenses were recognized accordingly,

(a) Restricted shares

The awarded shares granted to employees vest upon the condition that the employees remain in service after
consummation of an PO of the Company.

The movements of the awarded shares of the Group during the Track Record Period are summarized as follows:



Year ended December 31,

Five months ended May 31,

$.111] 2003 04 024 ikl
Weighted Weighted Weighted i Wi
averuge ! avernge Numberol  avermge  Numberof  average  Numberof  averape  Number of
subscription  awarded  sohscripion  awarded  sobscription  awarded  subscription  awarded  subseription  aworded
price shures jprice shares price shares price shures price shares
RME i EMB i RME i RME (i, Rug K
(mlited)  (mandied)
Outstanding at the beginning of the
vearfperiod . . . . . L L, (.14 4363 0.1+ 2109 014 3143 0.14 3143 0.14 1168
Granted during the year/peniod . . - - 0.14 76 0,44 65 0.14 2 042 1223
Forfeited dunng the yearfperiod . 0.14 (254) 0.14 (1,040) 0.14 42 {1.14 (42) 014 (15
Outstanding at the end of the
yearfperiod . ..o L 0.14 4109 0.14 3143 (.14 3,168 0.14 3,135 022 4376

The fair value of the awarded shares at the date of grant was determined by an external valuer taking into the
terms and conditions upon which the awarded shares were granted. The Group has used the discounted cash flow
method or back solve method to determine the underlying equity fair value of the Company and adopted equity value

allocation model to determine the fair value of the underlying ordinary shares.

The fair value of the awarded shares granted and the key assumptions to the valuation at the grant date are

summarized a8 below:

Year ended December 3, Five months
cnded May 31,
2023 2024 2n2s
RMBA48 .95~
Fair value per awarded share . . .. .. .. .. ... RMB34.13 RMB42.50 RMB50.20

Risk-free imterest rate. . . . . ... ... .. ..... 2.24% 1.47% 1.45%%
Expected dividend yield . . . .. .. ..o 0000 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
Expectad Volattlity: . o s aos ams 3 3w wm s o 43.02% 47.52% 51.02%

Expected dividend yield is estimated based on the Company's expected dividend policy over the expected life
of the awarded shares. The expected volatility is based on the historical volatility of selected comparable companies

in the period of the expected life of the awarded shares.
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27  CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(a) Movements in components of equity

The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of each component of the Group’s consolidated
equity is set out in the consolidated statements of changes in equity. Details of the changes in the Company's

individual components of equity between the beginning and the end of each reporting period are set out below:

The Company

Capital Share-hased Accummulated
Shure capital rEseErve payments reserve losses Total
RAMB 000 RMB'000 RMB 000 RME 00 RME )

Balance at January 1, 2022 . . . . . 61.818 (262.177) - (347.026) (547.385)
Changes in equity for 2022:
Loss and total comprehensive

income for the year . .. .. .. .. - = = (246,689) (246,689)
Balance at December 31, 2022 and

January 1,2023 . . . .. ... ... 61.818 (262.177) - (593.715) (794.074)
Changes in equity for 2023:
Loss and total comprehensive

income for the year . . . .. .. .. - - - (201.503) (201.503)
Equity settled share-based

transactions . . . . .. .. .. .. .. - ~ 6,424 ~ 6,424
Balance at December 31, 2023 and

January 1, 2024, . . . ... ... 61,818 (262.177) 6,424 (795.218) (989,153)
Changes in equity for 2024:
Loss and total comprehensive

income for the year . . . .. .. .. = o - (137.997) (137,997)
Equity settled share-based

transactions . . oz oz o o o - = 11,728 - 11,728
Balance at December 31, 2024 and

Jamnuary 1, 2025 . . ok i e i 61.818 (262.177) 18,152 (933,215) (1.115.422)

Changes in equity for the five
months ended May 31, 2025:
Loss and total comprehensive

income for the period . . . . . ... - - - (98.797) (98,797)
Equity settled share-bhased

Lransactions . . .. ... .. .. - - 15424 - 15,424
Balance at May 31, 2025. . . . . 61,818 (262.177) 33576 (1,032,012) (1,198,795)
(unaudited)
Balance at January 1, 2024 . . . . . 61,818 (262.177) 6,424 (795,218 (989,153)

Changes in equity for the five
months ended May 31, 2024:
Loss and total comprehensive

income for the period . . . . . ... - - - (63.075) (63.075)
Equity settled share-based

Lransactions . . . . . .. .. ... .. - - 4,700 - 4,700
Balance at May 31, 2024, . . . . . . 61818 (262.177) 11,133 (858.293) (1,047.519)
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(b)  Share capital

(i)  Authorized share capital

As at December 31, 2022, 2023, 2024 and May 31. 2025. the authorized share capital of the Company

comprises 61,818,182 ordinary shares with par value of RMBI per share.

(ii)  Issued ordinary shares

No. of shares Share capital
‘000 RME 000
Ordinary shares issued and fully paid:
At January 1, 2022 and December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024
and May 31 2025 o o e are e s Rn B BG BE BN G S 61,818 61,818

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i) Capital reserve

The capital reserve comprises: (i) the differences between the net considerations received and the nominal
amount of share capital issued by the Company; (ii) the differences between the net assets received and the total
amount of the par value of shares issued in relation to the conversion into a joint stock company; and (iii) the amounts

in relation to the recognition of the redemption liabilities as set out in Note 24.



(ii)  Share-based payments reserve

The share-based payments reserve comprises the Company's equity settled share-based payments (see
Note 26).

(iii) Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations within the Group.

(d) Dividends

No dividends were paid by the companies comprising the Group during the Track Record Period. The Company
did not declare and pay any dividends since its incorporation.

(e) Capital management

The Group's primary objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue s a
going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, by
pricing products and services commensurately with the level of risk and by securing access to finance at a reasonable
cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital structure to maintain a balance between the
higher sharcholders returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and security
afforded by a sound capital position, and makes adjustments to the capital structare in light of changes in economic
conditions.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital requirements.
28  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit, liquidity. interest rate and currency risks arises in the normal course of the Group's
business.

The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk management policies and practices used by the
Group to manage these risks are described below.

(a) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in a
financial loss to the Group. The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to trade receivables. The Group's
exposure to credit risk arising from cash and cash equivalents, time deposits and restricted cash is limited because
the counterparties are banks and financial institutions with high credit standing, for which the Group considers to
have low credit risk. Deposits and other receivables have been classified as other receivables. For the purposes of
internal credit risk management, the Group has applied the general approach in IFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance
at 12-month ECLy as there is no significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. The Group determines
the expected credit losses for these assers by assessment of probability of default, loss given default and exposure
at default. As at the end of each reporting period, in view of the nature of these balances and historical settlement
record, the Group considers that the provision of ECL allowance for these assets was not significant.

The Group does not provide any guarantees which would expose the Group to credit risk.
Trade receivables

The Group has established a credit risk management policy under which individual eredit evaluations
are performed on all customers requiring credit over a certain amount. These evaluations focus on the
customer’s past history of making payments when due and current ability to pay and take into account
information specific to the customer as well as pertaining to the economic environment in which the customer
operates. Trade receivables are mainly due within a period of 0-180 days from the date of hilling,



The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer rather than the industry or country in which the customers operate and therefore significant
concentrations of credit risk primarily arise when the Group has significant exposure to individual customers.
At December 31, 2022, 2023, 2024 and May 31, 2025, 10%, 10%, 9% and 9% of the total trade receivables,
respectively, were due from the Group's largest debtor, and 27%, 27%. 22% and 22% of the total trade
receivables, respectively, were due from the Group’s five largest debtors.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which
is calculated using a provision matrix. As the Group's historical credit loss experience does not indicate
significantly different loss patierns for different customer segments, the loss allowance based on past due
status is not further distinguished between the Group's different customer bases.

The following table provides information about the Group's exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade
receivables:

As at December 31, 2022

Gross currying

Expected loxs rate gmount Loss allownnce
k] RMB 000 RME OG0
W] WBEE. . .. e e mie s e s s s 21% 41,958 8,665
lto2years. . . ... i S54% 19,925 10,815
61,883 19,480

As at December 31, 2023

Gross carryving

Expected loss rate smount Loss allowsnee
% RME 000 RAE GO
Within 1 wear. . . . ... ... ......... 24% 17,192 4.169
I o X yenrs: =z =z sz 53 5F S5 i d T6% 14,349 10,848
31.541 15.017

As at December 31, 2024

Gross earrying
Expected loss rate amount Loss allownnee
% RMB (00 RME M)
Within/] wear. . . o vid wia e ss s e s 19% 74337 13.878
1 W NRERS: i3 w3 s ws s WS s G G 87% 5430 4.730
79.767 18,608

As at May 31, 2025

Gross carrying

Expected loss rate amaunt Loss pllownnee
S RMB 00 RME 000
Within'l Y&k < a2 s a3 a0 s e om s o 21% 66,147 13,844
1 O VEATS, oe ain aze ass sis sis m s s 81% 5517 4,446
71,664 18,290
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Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience over the past recemt years. These rates are
adjusted to reflect differences between economic conditions during the period over which the historic data has
been collected, current conditions and the Group's view of economic conditions over the expected lives of the

receivables,

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of trade receivables during the Track Record Period

is as follows:

Balance at the beginning of
the year/period
Amounts written off during
the year/period
Impairment losses recognized
during the year/period . . . .

Balance at the end of the
year/period

(b)  Liquidity risk

Year ended December 31, Five months
ended May 31,
2022 023 2024 2028
RMB ' KA (000 RMB 0 RME (00
14,231 19,480 15017 18,608
(4.826) (12,110) (6.066) (4.180)
10,075 7,647 9,657 3,862
19.480 15.017 18.608 18,290

The treasury function is centrally managed by the Group, which includes the short-term investment of cash
surpluses and the raising of funds to cover expected cash demands. The Group's policy is to regularly monitor its
liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of
cash and adequate commirtted lines of funding from major financial institutions and investors to meet its liguidity

requirements in the short and longer term.

The following tables show the remaining contractual maturities at the end of each reporting period of the
Group's non-derivative financial labilities, which are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including
interest payments computed using contractual rates or, if foating, based on rates current at the end of each reporting
period) and the earliest date the Group can be required to pay:

As at December 31, 2022

Contractunl ondiscounted cosh ontflow

More than More than
Within 1 year 1 year but less 2 vears but less Corrying
or on demuond than 2 yenrs than 5 yenrs Total amount
RME'00 RME'000 RME 0N RME 000 RME 000
Bank loans (Nore 22). . . . 15,355 - - 15,355 15,008
Lease liabilities (Note 23) . 10.945 6.817 229 17.991 16,978
Trade and bill payables
(Note 19). . ... ..... 21116 = = 21,116 21.116
Other payables and
accruals (Note 20) . . . . 23.591 - - 23,591 23.59]
TL007 6.817 229 78.053 76.693




Bank loans (Note 22). . . .
Lease liabilities (Note 23) .
Trade and bill payables
(Note ' 19). -~ o2 o2 v:s
Other payables and
accruals (Nete 20) . . . .

Lease liabilities (Note 23) .

Trade and bill payables
(Note 19). .. . ... ...

Other pavables and
accruals (Naote 20) . . . .

Lease liabilities (note 23) .

Trade and bill payables
fnote 19) .. .. .. ....

Other payables and
accruals (Note 20) . . . .

As at Pecember 11, 2023

Contractual ondiscounted cash outlMow

More than More than
Within | year 1 year hot less 2 vears but less Carrying
ur on demand than 2 years than 5 years Total ampuni
RMB 000 RME (00 RMEB 0 RME (00 RME (00
5123 - - 5,123 5.000
4.040 354 - 4,394 3,993
31,373 - - 31,373 31,373
19.009 - - 19,009 19,009
59,545 354 = 39,899 59375
As at December 3, 2024
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
More than 1 More than 2
Withio 1 year year but less years buot less Carrying
or on demand than 2 years than 5 years Total amount
RMB 000 RMEB 000 RME'INN RME'000 RMB'0M)
354 - - 354 352
50,752 - - 50,752 50,752
28.931 - - 28.931 28,931
80,037 - - 80,037 80,035
As ut May 31, 2025
Contractual undiscounted cash outfllow
More than 1 More than 2
Within 1 year veur but less years but less Carrying
or on demund than 2 years than 5 years Total amonnt
RMB 000 RME 000 RMEB 000 RMBOON RME 000
635 615 344 1.594 1,530
35,136 = = 35.136 35,136
25,572 - - 25,572 25572
61.343 615 344 62,302 62.238




The carrying amounts of redemption liabilities were RMB1,606.9 million, RMBI.738.5 million, RMB1,870.3
million and RMB1,924.7 million as of December 31. 2022, 2023, 2024 and May 31. 2025, respectively. These
carrying amounts represented the maximum amounts that the Company could be required to pay upon oceurrence of
specified contingent events which are further disclosed in Note 24. As some ol these triggering events, such as
material breach of the agreements could happen at any time from the end of reporting period presented. the Group
may be required to pay the carrying amounts upon such events. These contingent redemption obligations will
automatically expire at the closing of a Qualified IPO.

(e) Interest rate risk

The Group does not have significant exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates during the Track
Record Period as the Group does not have any significant loans which are subject to floating interest rate.

(d)y Currency risk

The Group is not exposed to significant foreign currency risk since financial assets and liabilities denominated
in currencies other than the functional eurrencies of the Company and its subsidiaries are not significant.

(e) Fair value measurement
i) Assets measured at fair value
Fair value hierarchy
The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s financial instruments measured at the end of
the reporting period on a recurring basis, categorized into the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined in
1ERS 13, Fair value measurement. The level into which a fair value measurement is classified is determined

with reference to the observability and significance of the inputs used in the valuation technique as follows:

*  Level | valuations: Fair value measured using only Level | inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices
in active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date.

*  Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs i.c. observable inputs which fail
to meet Level |, and not using significant unobservable inputs.

Unobservable inputs are inputs for which market data are not available.

*  Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant unobservable inputs.

The following table presents the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at
fair value at the end of each reporting dates:

Fair vulue measurements as al December 31, 2022

Fair value at entegorized into
December 31,
2022 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
RMB (000 RMB 000 RMB 00
Wealth management

products . . ... ... ... 307,276 307,276 -

Fair value measurements as of December 31, 2023

Fair value at categorized into
L ber 31,
2023 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
RAR 000 RMEB 00 BME (00
Wealth management

products . ... ... ... .. 113,629 113,629



Fair value measurements as ot December 31, 2024

Fair value at eategorized into
Décember 31,
2024 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
RME 000 RME 000 RME G060
Wealth management

PROHICES = i3 w5 w3 ws ws s 141,928 141,928

Fair value measurements as at May 31, 2025

Fair value at categorized into
May 31,
2025 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
RME'000 RMEB000 RME 000
Wealth management
products . . ... ....... 25,021 - 25,021 -

Financial instruments in level 2

Financial assels at FVPL

The fair value of the linancial assets in Level 2, is determined based on the unit price published on the
counterparty bank's or financial institution's websites. The published unit price is the unit price at which a
holder could redeem the fund units at the end of each reporting period presented.

During the Track Record Period, there were no transfers between Level 2 and Level 3. The Group's
policy is to recognize transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period in
which they occur.

(ii)  Fair value of financial assets and liabilities carried at other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments carried at cost or amortized cost were not materially
different from their fair values as at December 31, 2022, 2023, 2024 and May 31, 2025.

29 COMMITMENTS

The Group did not have any significant capital commitments as at December 31, 2022, 2023, 2024 and May
31, 2025.

30  MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(a) Key management personnel remuneration

Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group, including amounts paid to the Company’s directors
as disclosed in Note 8 and certain of the highest paid employees as disclosed in Note 9, is as follows:

Year ended December 31, Five months ended May 31,
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB 000 RMB OO0 RME"(WN} RMB006 RME OO0
(tipriunedived)
Salaries, allowances and
benefits 1o kind . . . . . . 9,843 7.327 8,931 3.884 4,307
Discretionary bonuses . . . - - 2.094 562 694
Share-based payments
(Note 27): < oz =2 =2 - - 7.502 12,438 5,328 6,177
Retirement scheme
contributions. . . . . . . . 5l6 447 463 192 218

10,359 15.276 23,928 9.966 11,396

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs™ (see Note 6(b)).



(h)

(c)

Names and relationships of the related parties that had material transactions with the Group during the

Track Record Period:

Nume of related parties

Relationship with the Group

Mr, 1d QUABYIT ... o0 civ o ore e sre sue me s s

Me: Ying Fochens. . oo s sia sia sia 42 50 53 509 8

Beijing Yunji Angel Management Partnership
(Limited Parmership) . .. .. .. o0 ol o0 on s

Wuhan Zhongtian Huatuo Intelligent Technology

Significant transactions with related parties

Director of the Company
Key management of the Group

Entity controlled by the controlling shareholder of the
Company

Entity controlled by a close family member of the
controlling shareholder of the Company

The Group entered into the following material related party transactions during the Track Record Period:

Sales of products
Wuhan Zhongtian Huatuo
Intelligent Technology

Advances granted to
related parties

Mr. Li Quanyin .. .. ...

Mr: Ying Fuchen. . .. ...

Repayments of advances
granted to
related parties
Mr. Li Quanyin . ... ...
Mr. Ying Fuchen. . . . ...

Repayments of advances
received
from related parties
Beijing Yunji Angel
Management Partnership
(Limited Parinership) . .

Year ended December 31,

Five months ended May 31,

2024 2025
RME000 RME 000 RMEB (G

- - 140 - 422
- 386 = = -
- - 1,000 = 1,000
- 386 1.000 - 1,000

193 193 12 =
- - 1,000 - 1,000
= 193 1,193 32 1,000
= - 898 - -
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(d)

Balances with related parties as at the

end of each reporting period

As at December 31,

Trade in nature
Contract liabilities

Wuhan Zhongtian Huatuo [ntelligent
Technology Co., Ltd. . . ... ...

Non-trade in nature:

Other receivables due from a
director

Mr. Li Quanyin

Other payables and aceruvals
Beijing Yunji Angel Management
Partnership (Limited Partnership) .

As ot May 31,
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMEB 000 RME (WO RME 000 RME O
- - - 290

At May 31, 2025, the directors consider the immediate and ultimate controlling party of the Group to be Ms.

31 IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE CONTROLLING PARTY
Zhi Tao.
32 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
There were no material subsequent events after May 31, 2025 and up to date of this report.
33

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR BEGINNING ON JANUARY 1, 2025

Up to the date of this report, the IASB has issued a number of new or amended standards, which are not
yet effective for the year beginning on January 1, 2025 and which have not been adopted in the consolidated
financial statements. including:

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7. Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent

Electriciry

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7: Amendments to the classification and

measuremen! of financial instruments

‘‘‘‘‘‘‘‘‘‘‘‘‘‘‘‘‘‘‘‘‘‘‘‘‘‘‘

Annual improvements to IFRS Accounting Standards — Volume 1. .. .. .. .....
1ERS 18, Presentation and disclosure in financial statements . . . . . . . . .. .. ...
IFRS 19, Subsidiaries without public accountability: Disclosures. . . . . .. ... ...
Amendments to IFRS 10 and LAS 28. Sale or contribution of assets between an
investor and ils GsSociQle OF JOIME VERIITE., . . . . v o v v v v o o on o e on o u s

Effective for accounting
period beginning
an or ulter

January 1, 2026
January 1. 2026
January 1, 2026
January 1, 2027

January 1, 2027
To be determined

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these developments is expected
to be in the period of initial application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to have
a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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IFRS 18, Presentation and disclosure in financial starements

IERS 18 will replace IAS | Presentation of financial statements and aims to improve the transparency and
comparability of information about an entity's financial stat¢ments. IFRS 18 is effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after January 1. 2027 and is to be applied retrospectively.

Among other changes. under IFRS 18, entities are required to classify all income and expenses into five
categories in the statement of profit or loss, namely the operating, investing, financing, discontinued operations and
income lax categories. Entities are also required to provide specific disclosures about management defined
performance measures in a single note in the financial statements. Minor amendments to TAS 7 Sratement of cash
flows are also made.

The Group does not plan to early adopt IFRS 18. IFRS18 will impact the presentation of financial statements
and is not expected to have significant impact on the financial performance and positions of the Group.
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